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TRAN 

CASE NO. C333254 

 

IN THE JUSTICE'S COURT OF HENDERSON TOWNSHIP 

COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA 

 

STATE OF NEVADA,                )

 )

          Plaintiff, )

      vs.                 )

         )  CASE NO. 16FH2036X 

 )

JACK PAUL BANKA, )

 )

          Defendant. )

________________________________) 

 

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT 

OF 

PRELIMINARY HEARING 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE E. LEE THOMSON, PRO TEM 

JUSTICE OF THE PEACE 

 

THURSDAY, JUNE 28, 2018 

 

APPEARANCES: 

 

 

  For the State:      MARIA LAVELL  

            Chief Deputy District Attorney 

 

 

  For the Defendant:     THOMAS BOLEY, ESQ.  

                          

 

Reported by:  Lisa Brenske, CCR #186 12:00AM

 112:00AM

 2

 3

 4

 512:00AM

 6

 7

 8

 9

1012:00AM

11

12

13

14

1512:00AM

16

17

18

19

2012:00AM

21

22

23

24

25

Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
2/12/2019 1:47 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

RA 000025



     2

W I T N E S S E S 

 

HAMID HAIDER

Direct Examination by Ms. Lavell 5

Cross-Examination by Mr. Boley 15

 

MARTIN LUBER

Direct Examination by Ms. Lavell 18

Cross-Examination by Mr. Boley 26

 

MAXINE LUBER

Direct Examination by Ms. Lavell 28

 

GREGORY LARSON

Direct Examination by Ms. Lavell 34

Cross-Examination by Mr. Boley 49

 

JORDAN VARGASON

Direct Examination by Ms. Lavell 54

Cross-Examination by Mr. Boley 67

 112:00AM

 2

 3

 4

 512:00AM

 6

 7

 8

 9

1012:00AM

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

RA 000026



     3

INDEX OF EXHIBITS  

Exhibit           Description                Admitted    

STATE'S 1 69     CAD LOG

 

STATE'S 2 65     BLOOD DRAW

 

STATE'S 3 66     LAB REPORT

 

 112:00AM

 2

 3

 4

 512:00AM

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

RA 000027



     4

HENDERSON, NEVADA, JUNE 28, 2018 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

THE COURT:  Calling 16FH2036X, Jack Paul

Banka.  This is the time set for preliminary hearing.

State states they're ready to proceed.

MS. LAVELL:  Yes, your Honor, and I'm

assuming the defense would invoke the exclusionary

rule.  I've already asked everyone to step out but the

first witness and that is Dr. Hamid Haider.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. LAVELL:  May I remain seated while I

question the doctor?

THE COURT:  You may.

THE CLERK:  Raise your right hand. 

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  

Please state your first and last name and

spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS:  First name is Hamid,

H-A-M-I-D.  Last name is Haider, H-A-I-D-E-R.  I am a12:00PM
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physician.

MS. LAVELL:  May I proceed, your Honor?

THE COURT:  You may.

MS. LAVELL:  For the record, your Honor,

the parties have stipulated to the doctor's expertise

but I will be asking just a couple of questions for the

record.

MR. BOLEY:  We are going to stipulate that

he's an internist and qualified as such.

MS. LAVELL:  That's correct.

THE COURT:  Okay.  That's the full extent

of the stipulation?

MS. LAVELL:  I will lay a foundation.

THE COURT:  Right.

 

HAMID HAIDER, 

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows: 

 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Doctor, where are you currently employed?

A. I'm employed at VA right now, but I am

also going to hospital as an independent hospitalist.

Q. Is one of the hospitals that you have

privileges at St. Rose Dominican Hospital on the Siena

campus?12:01PM
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A. Yes.

Q. And as an internist do you have the

responsibility of kind of overseeing various other

doctors that have specialties?

A. Right.  Not overseeing, but I depend on

their expertise.

Q. Ultimately at the end of the day who makes

the decision to determine a patient is ready for

discharge?

A. For ready for discharge it will be my

decision, but based on the recommendation of other

specialties, if there's another specialty involved.

Q. As part of your job, and that doesn't mean

in every case, but do you have occasion to review

medical reports that were generated by other doctors in

regards to patients?

A. Yes.

Q. And in fact is that part of your

responsibility as an internist to at least review

medical reports that other doctors have generated?

A. Of course.

Q. Did I ask you to review the medical

reports associated with Maxine Luber who was admitted

to St. Rose Dominion Hospital Siena campus on

September 1st, 2016?12:03PM
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A. Yes.  I reviewed it today.

Q. And in regards to this particular

individual Maxine Luber did you have any direct

responsibility in her treatment or just -- I don't want

to say supervising or overseeing, but just determining

whether all necessary treatment was done?

A. Yes.  Because I'm the -- if the case is

assigned to me, I'm the attending physician for that

particular case.

Q. And now this is quite sometime ago and I'm

assuming you've seen numerous patients since that; is

that fair to say?

A. I see 25, 30 patients a day so I don't

remember.

Q. After reviewing the medical records do you

recall what brought her into the hospital?

A. Based on the medical record, but, yeah, I

do not remember anything.

Q. Based on the medical records after your

review what brought her to the hospital?

A. Correct.

Q. Do you know what brought her to the

hospital?

A. Yeah.  According to the record there was a

multi vehicle accident.12:04PM
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Q. And as a result of the motor vehicle

accident was it determined that she suffered various

injuries?

A. Based on the medical records it says

patient had a multi vehicle accident and certain injury

happened.  But I can't say whether it was related or

not.  I can't say that for sure.

Q. So you can't say whether the injuries were

related to the motor vehicle accident?

A. Most likely it is, but not a hundred

percent for sure.

Q. You didn't actually see her injured?

A. No.

Q. Do you recall the various injuries that

she sustained?

A. Based on the medical record, yes.

Q. And everything I'm asking you based on

your prior testimony is just based on your review of

the medical records, Doctor, and thank you for being so

clear.  But we've made that record.  What were the

injuries that were suffered by Miss Luber?

A. Sternum and rib fractures.

Q. Where is the sternum on the body?

A. The sternum is in the ribcage right here.

Q. And you're pointing to the middle of your12:05PM
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chest?

A. Correct.

Q. And do you recall how many fractures the

sternum suffered?

MR. BOLEY:  Judge, I am going to object to

this line of questioning in general because I think the

doctor has testified that actually the diagnosis and

the work and the direct contact with the patient was

done by another doctor.  So this review of medical

records wouldn't meet the Fry standard.

MS. LAVELL:  Judge, doctors every day in

this state and most other states, I assume, can testify

in regards to medical records which are deemed to be

business records created by another doctor.  I don't

know of a case where the State brought in very specific

doctors that dealt with trauma patients because you

have the ER doctor, you have surgeons.  You have

various other doctors not necessarily connected to this

case but connected to cases in general.  And the State

calls in one doctor that is able to testify to the

injuries and treatment based on the medical records.

So that would be the State's response.  I don't know

that it is a legitimate objection.  Well, it's a

legitimate objection, but I don't believe it's a

correct objection.12:06PM
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MR. BOLEY:  If I may respond.

THE COURT:  You may.

MR. BOLEY:  I think what the State is

getting at here is there's trying to prove that there

was substantial bodily harm of course and this doctor

has been very clear that he testified what he remembers

from the medical records and I believe to rise to that

level beyond a reasonable doubt, which we don't have to

do today, but we need to get towards discoverable

evidence in a criminal case, we would need the actual

trauma surgeon, the diagnoser or somebody that had

personal contact with this patient.

MS. LAVELL:  I guess my response to that

argument would be what would the State's position be if

the individual that actually treated -- let's just say

the emergency room doctor -- doesn't remember this

individual but for reviewing the medical reports.  And

I think its reasonable that in most cases doctors do

not remember a specific individual.  If I said hey,

Doctor, you treated Maxine Luber back in 2012, tell me

how she presented, they are going to have to review the

medical records.  That's why there are medical records.

The same thing with the trauma surgeon.  It's unlikely

that if I had the trauma surgeon involved here, the

trauma surgeon would be able to remember what happened12:07PM
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without reviewing the records.

So there's absolutely nothing in the

statute or case law that the State is aware of that

says that a doctor cannot testify based on a review of

the records.  And the doctor did testify that in this

particular case he was the primary physician which

means he reviewed all of the documents in this case.

So would counsel have me bring in the emergency room

doctor and the trauma doctor and if she had surgery the

surgeon?  We're not required to do that.  This doctor

is in a position to testify he was connected with this

case and I think that his testimony as to her injuries

after reviewing the report is completely allowable.

MR. BOLEY:  Judge, my objection is

essentially a hearsay objection.  If you look at a

medical record that you created, of course you can

refresh your recollection.  But if it's not a medical

record that you created, that's hearsay.  Pure and

simple.  This is the statement of another person

intended to prove the matter asserted.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  I believe there is the issue

here as to a person giving some expert testimony plus

they're testifying off of a business record that they

are associated with.  So at the moment the objection is

overruled.  Proceed.12:08PM
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MS. LAVELL:  Thank you.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Doctor, I believe my question, and I'm

very long winded so I may have forgotten it, but I

believe my question was how many injuries or fractures

did she have to the sternum?

A. So first I have to explain what the

sternum is.  The sternum is kind of like in the middle

of the ribcage.  So both sides of it is -- the ribs are

attached to the sternum and there's like at the top

portion of the sternum is called the manubrium and

there is -- if I remember correctly based on the

records there's a fracture on the manubrium under the

sternum and there was like two fracture or three

fracture on the right side and there was seven or eight

on the left side.  Something like that.

Q. Now, are we moving from the sternum to the

ribs when you're talking about the seven or eight?

A. Yes.

Q. So in addition to the fractures on the

sternum there were multiple fractures to this

individual's ribcage?

A. On the rib right and left.

Q. Was there any to your knowledge medical

intervention associated with the fractures?12:10PM
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A. No.  Because in that kind of fracture you

cannot do anything, you cannot -- you don't do

anything.  It's just leave it like that.  But it's

going to cause a lot of pain when you breathe in and

all these things because you cannot take deep breath

and as soon as you take a deep breath it is going to

cause more pain.  So they just keep it to like heal by

itself with pain medication.

Q. And was she prescribed pain medication?

A. Yes.

Q. And what pain medication?

A. I'm not sure.

Q. Do you want to look at the medical

records?  Would that help you?

A. Yeah.

MS. LAVELL:  May I approach?

THE COURT:  You may.

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. So in looking at the medical records did

that refresh your recollection as to whether or not she

was prescribed any pain medication upon release?

A. Upon release I know medication was given

when she was in the hospital.

Q. Well, I am going to tell you, you don't12:11PM
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need to find that specifically.  Would it make sense

that someone -- did you find it?

A. No.  This is the one that was in the

hospital.  I'm pretty sure we -- usually I send patient

with a pain medication.

Q. But she certainly was given pain

medication while in the hospital?

A. Yes.

Q. How long was she in the hospital?

MR. BOLEY:  Objection.  Asked and

answered.  He said he doesn't remember whether she was

given pain medication.  He can't remember.

MS. LAVELL:  In the hospital.  I had

indicated in the hospital.

THE COURT:  I think we're talking two

different things and he did say that there's evidence

in the record of medication and his usual practice of

prescribing medication with the person who is being

discharged, if I misunderstood that.  I don't believe

he testified differently than that.

MR. BOLEY:  Then I would just ask to

clarify.

MS. LAVELL:  I will ask it again.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. So, Doctor, first of all how long was she12:12PM
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in the hospital?

A. From December 1st to December 3rd,

2016.

Q. Is it your testimony that while she was in

the hospital she was given pain medication?

A. Yes.

Q. And if given time would you be able to

determine whether or not she received medication to

take home?  In other words, if we waited while you

looked through all the medical records?  As you sit

here today can you say certainly she was or certainly

she wasn't or you just can't say one way or another?

A. If I say it with this kind of a patient, I

usually send it with pain medication.

Q. Now, Doctor, based on the injuries that

we've discussed in this particular hearing, the sternum

fractures as well as the multiple rib fractures, would

that be consistent with a traumatic injury as a result

of a motor vehicle accident?

A. Yes.

MS. LAVELL:  I'll pass the witness.

THE COURT:  Cross.

MR. BOLEY:  Briefly.
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CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BOLEY:  

Q. Doctor, did you ever have personal contact

with either Maxine Luber or her husband in this matter?

A. I was the attending physician so I'm

pretty sure yes, I did.  Because without that I

wouldn't write anything.

Q. You don't remember specifically, though?

A. No, I don't remember specifically.  I

don't remember.  If I see them -- even if I see her

here I wouldn't know which one the patient was.

Because that was two years ago and I see so many

patients.

Q. And you testified a little bit about the

treatment of a fractured sternum and ribs.  You don't

have to set that, do you?

A. I don't understand.

Q. So like a broken arm you would have to

set?

A. Yes.  That's why they usually -- if

something happened like that, that's why we depend on

the expertise of a consultant which in this case was a

trauma surgeon and cardiovascular surgeon.  Trauma

surgeon for the rib fracture and the sternum fracture.

For the vascular surgeon is consulted and pretty sure12:14PM
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regarding if there is any issue with cardiovascular

system.

MR. BOLEY:  No further questions.

MS. LAVELL:  No redirect.

THE COURT:  Doctor, you're excused.  Thank

you for your testimony.

Is there any further need for this witness

by either side?

MS. LAVELL:  Not the State.

MR. BOLEY:  No.

THE COURT:  You're excused, sir.

MS. LAVELL:  The State calls Martin Luber.

THE CLERK:  Raise your right hand. 

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS:  Yes.

THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  

Please state your first and last name and

spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS:  Martin Luber.

MS. LAVELL:  Mr. Luber has a little bit of

a hearing problem.  Do we have the head phones?

THE CLERK:  Yes.

12:16PM
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MARTIN LUBER, 

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows: 

 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. How is that, Mr. Luber?

A. Very good.

Q. Can you spell your last name?

A. L-U-B-E-R.

MS. LAVELL:  May I proceed, your Honor?

THE COURT:  You may.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Mr. Luber, do you know a young lady by the

name of Maxine Luber?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. How do you know her?

A. She's my wife.

Q. For how long?

A. Sixty-six years.

Q. And what is your date of birth, sir?

A. February 29, 1932.

Q. How many years young are you?

A. Eighty-six.

Q. Do you own a 2009 Nissan Cube with Nevada

license plate 710WCW?

A. I did.12:17PM
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Q. And we'll get to why it's past tense in

just a couple minutes.  I want to draw your attention

to December 1st of 2016.  On that date did you own

that vehicle?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you tell the Court what you were doing

on the evening of December 1st, 2016.

A. My wife and I were going to dinner.

Q. And where were you coming from?

A. From our home.

Q. I do not want you to give your address,

but did something happen as you were going towards

dinner?

A. Yes.

Q. And how far away from your home were you

when this took place?

A. Possibly a mile.

Q. Were you driving?

A. Yes.

Q. Where were you taking your bride to

dinner?

A. If I recall it might have been Winchell's

or Village Pub.  I'm not sure.

Q. Winchell's the restaurant, not the

doughnut place?12:18PM
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A. It's the bar and restaurant.

Q. And so did something happen while you were

traveling from your home to the restaurant?

A. Yes.

Q. What happened?

A. I got hit by a car.

Q. So let's talk about that a little bit.

What street were you driving on?

A. Anthem Parkway.

Q. Which direction were you going?

A. North.

Q. What was the cross street nearest you?

A. Atchley Drive.

Q. That's A-T-C-H-L-E-Y?

A. Yes.

Q. And where was your vehicle on Anthem

Parkway in relationship to the intersection at Atchley

Drive when you were in the vehicle accident?

A. I was on Anthem Parkway.  I would be

starting to cross.

Q. So is it fair to say that you were at the

intersection in the number one position?

A. Yes.

Q. At some point before the accident were you

stopped at a red light?12:19PM
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A. No.

Q. So as you drove down Anthem Parkway you

had a green?

A. Yes.

Q. Did something happen when you began to go

through the intersection?

A. Yes.

Q. What happened?

A. I got hit by a car.

Q. So describe that.  What side of your

vehicle was that other car on?

A. The left-hand side.

Q. So you in your position were going to

continue straight through the intersection?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now, the vehicle on the left-hand side,

was that also a lane where you continue straight or was

it a left-hand turn lane?

A. It was a left-hand turn.

Q. So when you realized you got struck on the

left-hand side, was it from a car that would have been

in the left-hand turn lane to your knowledge?

A. To my knowledge yes.

Q. And did you see how the vehicle came to

strike you?12:20PM
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A. No, I did not.

Q. When did you first realize where the

second vehicle was positioned after it struck your

vehicle?

A. Well, I didn't see the second car.

Q. So explain to the Court what happened upon

impact.

A. As I was passing through the intersection

I got struck and the air bags deployed in my car and

the one in the passenger side exploded and threw so

much smoke and chemicals, whatever is in the air bag,

that you couldn't see.  And I finally got out of the

car because the door was bent and I had a little

problem getting out of my car.  And my wife was telling

me that she was hurt.  And I got out and there was no

car there.  I said where is the other car?  It

disappeared.  And I had to go around the other side

because somebody thought the car was on fire because of

the smoke in the cabin.

Q. But it was not on fire, it was just the

air bags?

A. Yes, that's correct.

Q. Did anybody help you get your wife out of

the car?

A. Yes, there was I believe a young lady that12:22PM
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helped me try to pull the door, it was kind of stuck,

and to get her out.  I don't know who she was.

Q. Were you able to get your wife out of the

car?

A. Yes, we got her out.

Q. And where did you and your wife take

yourselves once out of the vehicle?

A. We stayed right there.

Q. Next to the vehicle?

A. Well, we had to get away from the vehicle

because we still didn't know whether it was on fire or

not.

Q. So did you get out of the intersection and

go to a sidewalk?

A. To the sidewalk.

Q. Do you know who called the police?

A. Somebody with a telephone, cell phone

dialed 911.

Q. You and your wife didn't call the police?

A. No.

Q. Now, did medical respond?

A. Yes.

Q. Did medical respond before the police

responded?

A. Well, I think the medical responded12:23PM
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because the fire station was right across the street,

same intersection, so they could get there before the

police.

Q. Did you and your wife both get transported

by ambulance to St. Rose Dominican Hospital Siena

campus?

A. Yes.

Q. And, sir, were you treated for injuries?

A. Well, they checked me over.  They took

x-rays and everything because I was bruised across the

whole front of my chest.

Q. And bruised possibly by the air bag?

A. Seat belt or the air bag, I'm not sure.

Q. You had your seat belt on?

A. Yes.

Q. Did your wife have her seat belt on?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. Oh, good.  But you were treated and

released?

A. Yes.

Q. Did they give you any pain killers for

your discomfort?

A. No.

Q. Now, let's talk about your bride.  Was she

treated and released the same day as you were?12:24PM
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A. No.

Q. How long was she in the hospital?  

A. Three days.

Q. At some point did she become released from

the hospital?

A. Yes.

Q. And without saying what the injuries were

were you made aware that she had various injuries as a

result of the car accident?

A. Yes.

Q. And as a result of the injuries did you

have to be her caretaker for a period of time?

A. Yes.

Q. Approximately how long were you and

anybody else in your family helping out caretaking your

wife?

A. About six months.

Q. Can you tell the judge what sort of things

that you had to do to accommodate your wife after the

injuries.

A. Yes.  I had to do all the cooking pretty

much.  I had to help her get dressed.  I had to be in

the bathroom when she was showering to make sure she

didn't fall and to help her in bed.

Q. Did you have to help her standing and12:25PM
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sitting?

A. Yes.

Q. Did she appear to be in a lot of pain

during those six months?

A. Terrible pain.

Q. To the point where she cried out at times?

A. Yes.

Q. Have you ever seen the gentleman sitting

to my right and sitting to the first individual to my

right's right?

A. No.

Q. So you didn't see him anywhere near the

accident scene once you were able to get out of your

vehicle?

A. No, I did not.

Q. Is this the first time you're seeing him?

A. Yes.

MS. LAVELL:  I'll pass this witness, your

Honor.

THE COURT:  Cross.

MR. BOLEY:  Briefly.

 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BOLEY:  

Q. Mr. Luber, I just want to ask to just12:25PM
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shore up some of the facts surrounding the car

accident.  It seems like you like to go to dinner at

Winchell's and Village Pub, right?

A. Occasionally, yes.

Q. So where are those two places located?

A. On Eastern.

Q. So you'd have to go north from your home

on Anthem Parkway, right?

A. Well, I have to get from my home to Anthem

Parkway to down to Eastern.

Q. Are there any other paths that you might

take to those restaurants?

A. No.

Q. Always Anthem Parkway?

A. Yeah.

MR. BOLEY:  I'll pass the witness.

MS. LAVELL:  Nothing further.

THE COURT:  All right.  Any further need

for this witness?

MS. LAVELL:  No need from the State.

MR. BOLEY:  Doubtful.  We're done.

MS. LAVELL:  With Court's permission the

State would call Maxine Luber.

THE CLERK:  Raise your right hand. 

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony12:27PM
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that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS:  Yes, I do.

THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  

Please state your first and last name and

spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS:  Maxine Luber.  M-A-X-I-N-E.

L-U-B-E-R.

 

MAXINE LUBER, 

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows: 

 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. May I call you Maxine?

A. Sure.  

Q. How is your hearing?  Better than your

husband's?

A. Yes.

Q. You don't need the headphones?

A. No.

Q. Is that no?

A. That's a no.

Q. Ma'am, what is your date of birth?

A. May 8th, 1932.

Q. How old are you?12:28PM
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A. Eighty-six.

Q. I want to draw your attention to

December 1st, 2016.  Now, that young man that just

exited the courtroom, that's your husband Martin,

correct?

A. Yes.

Q. So I want to just ask on December 1st,

2016 you and Martin were going to dinner?

A. Yes.

Q. And Martin was driving your vehicle?

A. Yes.

Q. Did something happen as Martin was driving

on Anthem Parkway going north and just crossing the

intersection or entering into the intersection at

Atchley Drive?

A. Did something happen?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes.  We were hit by a car.

Q. Did you see the vehicle before it struck

you?

A. I did not.

Q. After the vehicle struck you what

physically happened to you inside the car if you know?

A. I was in terrible pain.  Should I go on?

Q. Yes.12:29PM
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A. Because then the car filled with smoke.

Q. How come that happened?

A. Well, at the time I didn't know, but I was

told that probably the air bag, it was the air bag.  I

didn't know.  All I know is the car was filled with

smoke.

Q. So at the time that the crash occurred you

were not aware that the air bag had deployed?

A. I didn't know that.

Q. But you indicated you were in terrible

pain?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. At some point were you able to get out of

the car with assistance?

A. With assistance.  The car seemed to

lock -- we couldn't get out -- I couldn't get out of

the car.  They had to -- people came and got me out.

Q. At some point were you and your husband

transported by ambulance to the hospital?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you remember how many days you had to

stay in the hospital?

A. Well, I think it was three.  I was told it

was three.

Q. Can you explain to the Court what injuries12:30PM
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you had as a result of the accident?

A. Well, I had 10 broken ribs -- two

fractures in my sternum.  Oh, and I didn't know it

until I got into the bed but there was a lot of blood

and I didn't know where it was coming from, but

apparently it was from the air bag and it was on my

leg.

Q. So the air bag cut your leg?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you have any injury to your

abdomen or your chest?

A. My chest, yes.

Q. Beyond the fractures did you have any

visible injury on your chest that you recall?

A. Well, I was black and blue.

Q. Now, as a result of the fractures that

you've mentioned did you suffer any pain beyond the

actual accident itself?  In other words, after the

accident happened did you have pain after the accident?

A. Sure.

Q. The next hour, the next day?

A. Oh, my goodness, yes.

Q. How long did you suffer pain?

A. I can't even remember.  A very long time.

I know it was almost a year before I was really mobile.12:31PM
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Q. During the time that you were recovering

from the rib fractures and the sternum fracture did you

need assistance in your every day activities?

A. Absolutely.

Q. How come?

A. I was in pain and it was difficult to move

around to be mobile.

Q. Before the accident -- and I know some of

these questions seem odd to you because I can see from

your face why is she asking me this, but it's just

about making a record.

A. Sure.

Q. This is going to really throw you.  Before

the accident did you have broken ribs or a broken

sternum?

A. No, I did not.

Q. When you left the hospital were you

prescribed pain medication?

A. Yes.

Q. And how many times did you have to get

that refilled, if any?

A. Well, I changed it after awhile.  I don't

know because I asked them to change -- I said I

couldn't take what they gave me because it didn't agree

with me, all this pain medication.  So the doctor gave12:32PM
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me something else and I really don't know.  After

awhile I just resorted to taking over-the-counter

things.

Q. Like Ibuprofin?

A. That's one of them, yeah.

Q. As you sit here today you're fully

recovered?

A. I would say yes.

MS. LAVELL:  Pass the witness.

THE COURT:  Cross?

MR. BOLEY:  No questions.

THE COURT:  Miss Luber, you're excused.

You may leave now.  Thank you for your testimony.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Any further need for this

witness?

MS. LAVELL:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you.

MR. BOLEY:  No, Your Honor.

MS. LAVELL:  Your Honor, with Court's

permission the State would like to call Gregory Larson.

THE CLERK:  Raise your right hand. 

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS:  I do.10:29AM
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THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  

Please state your first and last name and

spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS:  Gregory Larson.

G-R-E-G-O-R-Y.  L-A-R-S-O-N.

MS. LAVELL:  May I proceed, your Honor?

THE COURT:  You may.

 

GREGORY LARSON, 

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows: 

 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Do you go by Greg or Gregory?

A. Either is fine.

Q. May I call you Greg?

A. Sure.

Q. Greg, how are you employed?

A. I work for the City of Henderson as a fire

engineer.

Q. And is a fire engineer a firefighter but

you drive the big trucks?

A. That's correct.  I'm a firefighter and I

operate the apparatus.

Q. Were you an engineer on December 1st,

2016 or did you hold a different position with the fire12:35PM
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department?

A. No.  I was an engineer then.

Q. Continuing to draw your attention to

December 1st, 2016 in the evening were you in the

area of Anthem Parkway and Atchley Drive?

A. Yes, I was.  I was just leaving the fire

station 99 which sits on the corner.

Q. So were you leaving in an official

capacity or were you leaving work?

A. I was off duty.  I had visited the fire

station off duty to drop off some stuff for the crew

and I was leaving the station headed home.

Q. So you were in your personal vehicle in

plain clothes?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. Approximately what time was that if you

remember?

A. 5:30 or so, 5:45, somewhere in that range.

Early evening.

Q. Did something catch your attention as you

were leaving the fire station?

A. Yes.  I was sitting basically eastbound at

Atchley waiting to turn left to go north on Anthem

Parkway to head home.  There was heavy traffic so I was

sitting there for awhile waiting to have my chance to12:36PM
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turn left and I noticed an auto collision in front of

me.

Q. Can you tell the Court which street and

direction had the right of way while you were waiting?

A. So Anthem Parkway would have the right of

way.

Q. Going north or south?

A. North or south, yeah. I needed to cross

Anthem Parkway to make a left to go north.  So

obviously the traffic going north and south had the

right of way.

Q. So you indicated that you saw an accident.

Do you recall the vehicles involved, at least the

makes?

A. There was a Cube, I'm not sure who makes

it, but the Cube looking car.

Q. So if I said Nissan Cube, would you have

any reason to doubt that?

A. No.  I'd have no reason to doubt that.

The other was a dark colored Mercedes.

Q. Which one had the right of way, the Nissan

or the Mercedes?

A. The Nissan.

Q. Did you see the actual collision?

A. Yes.12:37PM
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Q. Can you explain to the Court how it

happened.

A. The Mercedes was in the turn lane to turn

left on Atchley to head eastbound.  The Cube was headed

northbound on Anthem Parkway.  The Mercedes basically

just turned into them, into the Cube.

Q. And --

A. It made a left-hand turn in front of them.

Q. It made a left-hand turn in front of them

or right-hand turn?

A. A left-hand turn.

Q. Okay.  So let me just understand that

again.  The Cube --

A. I might be mistaken.

Q. I might be too.  So I want to make sure

we're all on the same page.  The Cube was going north.

Was the Mercedes to the left or the right of the Cube?

A. The left.

Q. Okay.  So he was to the left of the Cube

preparing to make a left-hand turn?

A. Yes.

Q. But he made a right turn into the Cube?

A. Yes.  Yes.  I'm trying to vision the

intersection but yes.

Q. So he would have had to make a right turn12:38PM
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to hit the vehicle to his right, correct?  Shall we

draw it?  Do you want to draw it?

A. If you want to draw it, yeah.

Q. I don't know the streets there, I'm not

very familiar with that area so why don't you just draw

the intersection for me.  And it doesn't have to be --

this is just for demonstrative purposes so it doesn't

have to be perfect and we'll let the judge see it too.

A. So the Cube is headed this way.

Q. So that's going to be north?

A. I was sitting here.  The impact was here.

Q. Oh, I see.  Okay.  Go ahead and make an

arrow and just write Cube on that line.  All right.

And so I see now you said you were in the left-hand

turn lane but not on the same side as the Cube but on

the other street?

A. I saw the impact here.

Q. Do you know where the Mercedes was coming

from?

A. It was my recollection that he was trying

to go this way.

Q. So he was going south on -- 

A. He was here, yes.  So he turned into them

there and then after the collision continued --

Q. I see.12:39PM
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A. -- this direction.

Q. Thank you for clarifying that.

Do you want this marked into evidence or

just for demonstrative purposes?  

MR. BOLEY:  Just for demonstrative

purposes.

THE WITNESS:  So he continued down Atchley

this direction after the collision.

MS. LAVELL:  Do you want to see it?

THE COURT:  If it's not in evidence.

MS. LAVELL:  Well, just for demonstrative

purposes if you wanted to see it.   Okay.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. So the Cube was heading north?

A. Yes.

Q. And the Mercedes had been heading south on

Anthem Parkway but was making a left-hand turn?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  I am completely with you now.  And

the Mercedes hit the Cube in the intersection?

A. Yes.

Q. Did the Cube to your knowledge still have

the green light or did the Mercedes have the turn?

A. There is no light there.  There is no

signal.12:40PM
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Q. So there's no signal.  So then the Cube

would have been going straight and had the right of

way?

A. Absolutely.

Q. What did you do when you saw the accident?

A. First thing I did is I grabbed my cell

phone and called the fire station to tell those guys --

I knew they were there, I had just left -- to let them

know there was a collision in front of the fire

station.  And I no sooner got on the phone with them,

gave them the information and I noticed that the

Mercedes was proceeding to leave.

I noticed another vehicle started to

follow that Mercedes and then about that point in time

traffic was clearing.  The north and southbound travel

lanes of Anthem Parkway had cleared.  There was a break

in traffic.  The other cars that were waiting that were

headed southbound waiting to make that left onto

Atchley, they had stopped.  People had got out of their

cars to go over to the accident.

I noticed the driver of the Cube had got

out of the car so I let the station know -- I was on

the phone, I let them know that the driver is out of

the car.  That alerts them to what potentially other

resources they may need.  You know, obviously if the12:42PM
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guy is pinned in the car, they may need other

resources.  So I did not stop and I followed after the

two vehicles that -- I followed after the Mercedes and

the vehicle that was following it.

Q. When you initially started to follow in

the direction that the Mercedes had gone in, did you

actually have a sightline on that vehicle or did you

get there some other way?

A. I followed them.  I could see them going,

but Atchley makes a little bit of a curve so as they

went around the curve I just followed the trail of

fluids.  Because Idaho Falls is like two streets down

so I'm wondering do I -- whether I go down Atchley or

Idaho Falls, you can just see the trail of fluids and

some debris left from the Mercedes that had fallen in

the street.  And so I basically saw that they got to

Idaho Falls and they had made a right-hand turn on

Idaho Falls and stopped right there.  They may have

proceeded a hundred feet down Idaho Falls before they

stopped, both cars.

Q. So the Mercedes that we've been talking

about plus the witness that is following the Mercedes

and then you in line?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you ultimately turn onto that same12:43PM
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street and stop?

A. Yes, I did.  And I stopped adjacent to the

other witness.  So basically right behind the Mercedes.

Q. How far away would you say where the

Mercedes ultimately stopped and the accident occurred

was?

A. We could Google it, but maybe a quarter

mile.  I don't know.  I mean, it's not that far.  I

don't know.

Q. If the Mercedes chose to leave the

intersection, were there other areas before that

right-hand turn that the Mercedes could have pulled

over into?

A. It could have stopped on Atchley.  It

could have stopped on Atchley.  There was another side

street before Idaho Falls that it could have turned

onto.  But Atchley is a wide open street.

Q. Was there anything that you saw in the

intersection that would cause you to believe that the

Mercedes for the safety of the driver needed to move

his car out of the intersection?

A. No.  Traffic had stopped.

Q. When you pulled behind the second car did

you get out and make contact with the individual at the

Mercedes?12:44PM
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A. I did, yes.  I pulled up adjacent to the

second car and I did get out.  The driver of the

Mercedes was still in his car.

Q. When you stopped and got out?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see that individual that you saw as

the driver of the Mercedes present in the courtroom?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you point and describe something

he's wearing.

A. It's the gentleman in the dark suit with

the white shirt.

MS. LAVELL:  Your Honor, may the record

reflect that the witness has identified the defendant?

THE COURT:  Yes.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. So did you approach the defendant's

vehicle at that point?

A. I did.

Q. And did the defendant remain in the

vehicle upon your approach or exit?

A. He remained in the vehicle as I approached

him.

Q. Was there some sort of conversation at

that point between you and the defendant?12:45PM
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A. There was.

Q. And what was that?

A. I approached him and I asked him if he was

okay.  He said he was.  He said yes.  And I noticed at

that point in time he was fumbling with his phone.  And

I thought -- I respond to traffic accidents so I see

these kind of things.  But I thought it was

entertaining that he seemed disoriented, impaired, he

was trying to figure out what he was doing and he was

trying to -- I thought he was trying to make a phone

call, but he was messing with his phone and it was

actually his car talking to him asking him if he was

okay, you were involved in an accident, that type of

thing.

Q. So was it one of those cars if you get in

an accident someone --

A. Like On Star or something like that.

Q. So what you were observing was him trying

to figure out --

A. Who was communicating with him.  So it

took me a second to get his attention and I got his

attention, asked him if he was okay.  He said he was

okay.  And I just made a funny comment to him.

Q. What was the comment?

A. I had just told him, I said sir, you've12:46PM
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been involved in a hit and run accident and I think

you're the runner and he stated to me oh, I didn't mean

to leave.

Q. So that was his response?

A. That was his response to me.

MR. BOLEY:  Objection to that based on

hearsay and move to strike the statement of the

defendant.

MS. LAVELL:  Judge, a defendant's

statement is not hearsay.  It is an admission by a

party opponent.  It's absolutely allowable evidence

what the defendant says.

THE COURT:  Objection's overruled.

Proceed.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. So after he indicated oh, I didn't mean to

leave, was there further conversation?

A. I let him know to just sit tight in his

car.  I said hey, just sit tight in your car.

At that point in time I had my phone with

me, I called the police, I called dispatch to let them

know.  And as I was on the phone with them I asked him

to sit in his car and wait and -- 

Q. Did you advise him that you were calling

the police?  12:47PM
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A. I did, yeah.

Q. Did he remain seated in his vehicle at

that point?

A. He did.

Q. At some point did he exit his vehicle?

A. Yes.  I didn't stay by his side for that

entire second.  I went back to check on my daughter who

was in my car parked behind him.  So I was standing

outside of my vehicle.  I noticed him kind of fumbling

around in his vehicle which kind of made me a little

bit nervous because I had my daughter with me.  I

followed him out of instinct but then I started second

guessing this guy could have a weapon or other things.

So I was very cautious and kept my eye on him.

He got out of his car and he seemed very

anxious.  He was wandering around checking the damage

of his car.  Kind of looked like he was just looking

around the area or what-not.  So I just kind of watched

him from a distance.  And dispatch knew where we were

at, they had officers on the way so I just let him know

that.  I reminded him again kind of for my own safety

that hey, the police are coming.

He got back in his car and so then I was

kind of watching him.  And I heard the car start, I

went back up to him and told him sir, can you turn the12:48PM
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car off, you just need to stay here and hang out.  I

wasn't really sure the car would go anywhere anyway but

I just told him you need to stay.  And he told me -- 

Q. Let me stop you for a quick second.  So

after he had stopped and he got out of the car, he got

back into the car and he turned the ignition on again?

A. Yes.  He started the car back up.

Q. Okay.

A. And at that point I told him hey, can you

shut it off, just hang out.  The cops are coming.  I

kind of reminded him again.  And he told me well, I

need to move my car.  I wasn't going to argue with him

or anything so I just kind of stepped back towards my

vehicle which was parked behind his and he proceeded to

drive his car around the corner which I was surprised

it actually steered and moved that well with the damage

that was done in the front of it.

Q. And what street did he end up on?

A. I believe it was Sandstone.  That section

of Idaho Falls where we stopped was maybe 200 feet

long.  It's just an entrance into the neighborhood and

Sandstone is the first residential street.  So he made

that corner so I got back in my vehicle and I followed,

moved up and so did the other witness, we both followed

up and as soon as we turned the corner on Sandstone I12:49PM
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noticed that he had only made it maybe five, six houses

down the street.  So I stopped right there basically.

Q. I am going to stop you.  You said he only

made it.  Was he still in the car?

A. Yeah, he was still in his car, but I'm

guessing that's as far as the car would make it.  It

wasn't steering very well.  Watching him steer the car

it was kind of all over the road and it was leaking

fluids and dragging pieces, parts.  So he basically

stopped five or six houses down.

Q. All right.  And did you observe him do

anything else after he stopped?

A. He was in the car for a moment and he sat

there.  I got back on the phone, I called to let police

know where our new location was and right after I got

off the phone with them I noticed he got out of his

car.  I went to the witnesses that had also followed, I

let them know hey, just stay in your car, I don't know

what this guy's gonna do.  I asked police to expedite

because it seemed like he was getting unpredictable.  

And next thing you know he took off

running on foot.  It was dark.  I didn't see exactly

where he went.  And shortly after that within a minute

or two of him leaving on foot the battalion chief from

our department as well as a police officer rounded the12:50PM
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corner.  I told them, I said he just went that way on

foot.  I said but he can't be very far.  I said I would

check the bushes or anything around these houses close

by because we're talking a minute, 30 seconds of time

lapsed between when he left.  And so they had officers

start looking for him.

Q. And at that point or at some point after

that did you see the defendant again in police custody?

A. I did, yeah.  They brought him back up to

the scene.

Q. Is the individual that they brought up to

the scene the same individual that you saw leave?

A. Same individual.

MS. LAVELL:  I pass the witness.

THE COURT:  Cross.

MR. BOLEY:  Briefly.

 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BOLEY:  

Q. So this intersection we're talking about

earlier, Atchley and Anthem Parkway, how is that

intersection governed?  You said there wasn't a

stoplight.  How is it governed?

A. As far as a traffic control?

Q. Exactly.12:51PM
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A. There is no stop sign, there is no

stoplight.  So anyone making a turn would yield to

oncoming traffic.  I'm not a law enforcement officer so

I can't give you the law on traffic control, but as a

driver, I've been driving a vehicle for a couple years,

and I drive firetrucks for a living, I can tell you,

you know at Anthem Parkway north and southbound you

have the right of way and if you want to cross traffic

or either make a left or a right, what direction you're

traveling --

Q. Is there a left-hand turn lane on Anthem

Parkway turning I guess it would be east onto Atchley?

A. There is.

Q. So your testimony is that's where the

Mercedes was?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  So if I were hypothetically in the

same scenario, how would I know to turn left -- excuse

me.  Let me be more specific.  If I was going

southbound on Anthem Parkway and I wanted to turn left

onto Atchley, how would I know when it was safe for me

to proceed?

A. When there's no traffic.  I mean, if

traffic is cleared, there's no oncoming traffic, then

you'd be safe to turn.12:53PM

 112:51PM

 2

 3

 4

 512:52PM

 6

 7

 8

 9

1012:52PM

11

12

13

14

1512:52PM

16

17

18

19

2012:52PM

21

22

23

24

25

RA 000074



    51

Q. Do you remember filling out a witness

statement with Henderson Police Department?

A. I do.

MR. BOLEY:  May I approach the witness?

THE COURT:  Yes.

BY MR. BOLEY:  

Q. I am just going to draw your attention to

that page right there.  Do you recognize that document?

A. Okay.

Q. Is that the statement you gave to the

Henderson Police Department?

A. It is.

Q. Could you read the first sentence.

A. "I was sitting at the intersection of

Atchley and Anthem Parkway and saw a two car motor

vehicle accident and it just occurred."

Q. You said in that statement -- and those

are your words, right?

A. Yeah, I wrote this.

Q. You said that it just occurred.  That

seems like in the past tense.  Why did you write it

that way?

A. Well, I wrote this statement probably an

hour after it occurred.

Q. Okay.12:54PM
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A. So I might have used past tense for that

reason.

Q. Your testimony today is that you actually

saw it?

A. Yes.  I was sitting in the intersection

when the collision happened.

Q. We'll move on beyond that.

A. I guess if I would have come upon

something I would have written I came upon an accident.

As opposed to it just occurred.

Q. Let me ask you this then:  If you

witnessed an accident, wouldn't you normally write the

facts of the accident?

A. The fact of like -- 

Q. This car --

A. Turned into this car or that car?

Q. Yes.

A. I guess if I was witnessing -- if I was

trying to describe the accident, yes, I would.  I felt

my witness statement -- when I filled this out I think

I felt it was more to what occurred after.  I followed

here, I did this, I waited for that.  I didn't think it

was -- I felt that the accident didn't need any

justification.  It happened.  Everybody saw it happen.

Q. Everybody who?12:55PM
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A. There was a line of traffic and when I

drove through, there were multiple people that got out

of their vehicles that came over and were coming to the

aid of the people in the other car.

MR. BOLEY:  No further questions.

MS. LAVELL:  No redirect, your Honor.

Thank you.

THE COURT:  You're excused.  Thanks for

your testimony.

Is there any further need for this

witness?

MS. LAVELL:  No, Your Honor.  Thank you.

MR. BOLEY:  No.

MS. LAVELL:  The State calls Officer

Vargason.

THE CLERK:  Raise your right hand. 

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony

that you are about to give will be the truth, the whole

truth and nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS:  I do.

THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  

Please state your first and last name and

spell each for the record.

THE WITNESS:  Jordan Vargason.

J-O-R-D-A-N.  V-A-R-G-A-S-O-N.12:56PM
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MS. LAVELL:  May I proceed, your Honor?

THE COURT:  You may.

 

JORDAN VARGASON, 

having been first duly sworn, did testify as follows: 

 

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Sir, how are you employed?

A. I am a police officer with the City of

Henderson.

MR. BOLEY:  Judge, I'll stipulate that

he's a police officer and qualified as such.

MS. LAVELL:  Thank you.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Officer, I want to draw your attention

back to December 1st, 2016.  Were you working on that

day?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. In what capacity?

A. I was working patrol.

Q. Did you get dispatched or were you made

aware of an accident in the area of Anthem Parkway and

Atchley Drive?

A. Yes, ma'am.  I was dispatched there.

Q. And is that in Henderson, Clark County,12:57PM
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Nevada?

A. Yes, ma'am, it is.

Q. In what capacity were you dispatched?

A. Not sure I understand the question.

Q. Were you primary, the first one to get the

call, were you attempting to locate, what was your

responsibility upon your initial dispatch?

A. I was assigned as the primary officer to

the call along with multiple other officers that were

dispatched at the same time.

Q. So in other words, I don't know if you

call it a call sign or P-number, but they advised you

of the accident and then other units jump in to assist?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. So ultimately you were responsible for the

report and putting together the investigation as far as

patrol handles that?

A. That's correct.

Q. Where did you first arrive at?  

A. The first location I arrived at was the

actual intersection Anthem and Atchley which was where

I confirmed that an accident had taken place.

Q. Now, were you made aware that this was a

two car collision when you were dispatched?

A. Yes, ma'am.12:58PM
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Q. When you arrived how many vehicles were

actually at that location that had been involved in the

accident?

A. Just one.

Q. At some point later did you learn where

the second vehicle ended up?

A. Yes.  When I arrived on scene I was

directed to the area of the Idaho Falls and Sandstone

Cliffs intersection, just east of that location.

Q. Did you respond there?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And did you see a vehicle that you later

learned had been involved in the accident at the first

location?

A. Yes, ma'am.  A black Mercedes E350.

Q. Did you determine who it was registered

to?

A. Yes.  Mr. Jack Banka.

Q. Did you yourself ever come in contact with

Mr. Banka, the driver of that vehicle?

A. I did.

Q. Do you see him present in the courtroom?

A. I do.

Q. Would you point at him and describe what

he's wearing.12:59PM
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A. He's right there wearing a black suit coat

and white button-up shirt.

Q. At some point did you perform what is

known as an FST or field sobriety test on the

defendant?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. How many different tests did you perform?

A. There are three standardized field

sobriety tests.  I performed all three of them.

Q. For the record would you provide the name

of the three field sobriety tests.

A. There's the first horizontal gaze

nystagmus test, second is the walk and turn test and

the third is the one legged stand test.

Q. Are you trained and certified in

performing the HGN or the horizontal gaze nystagmus

test?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And are you trained in the remaining two

tests?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Did the defendant pass or fail the

horizontal gaze nystagmus?

A. He performed it unsatisfactorily.

Q. Unsatisfactorily or satisfactory? 1:00PM
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A. Unsatisfactorily.

Q. Did you he pass or fail the walk and turn?

A. Also unsatisfactory.

Q. Did he pass or fail the one legged stand?

A. It was also unsatisfactory.

Q. Did you also perform a preliminary breath

test?

A. Officer Carick performed the breath test

in my presence.

Q. So you observed it?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Did you observe the results of that test?

A. I did.

Q. And what were the results of that?

MR. BOLEY:  Judge, objection.  It's

inadmissible.  It's not met the Fry standard.

THE COURT:  You have to give me more than

that, counsel.

MR. BOLEY:  It's been held that the

preliminary breath test does not meet the Fry standard.

That it occurred is admissible but the results of it

are not.

MS. LAVELL:  I will withdraw that

question.

THE COURT:  Okay. 1:01PM
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BY MR. BOLEY:  

Q. In addition to his performance on the

three tests as well as whatever the result was of the

breath test did you observe any other signs or behavior

on the part of the defendant that caused you to believe

that he had been driving impaired?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Could you explain to the Court what those

signs or behaviors were.

A. Once of the first was his appearance, his

eyes were very glassy or watery.  His speech was very

low and slower than I would expect in conversing with

him.  His gait was very stiff as well when he walked.

In addition to that physical evidence, I

also observed later inside the black Mercedes that

there was a cup with liquid and ice in it which had

been spilled all over the car that had the odor of an

unknown alcoholic beverage on it which I confirmed

later with the PBT that it had the presence of alcohol

in the odor.

MR. BOLEY:  Judge, I am going to object to

that line of evidence and move to strike that because

the PBT, there again it's not even admissible for its

purpose, but it's definitely not admissible for

determining a spilled beverage contains alcohol at all. 1:03PM
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MS. LAVELL:  Well, Judge, I am going to

have to just respond to that objection.  Obviously the

officer is testifying that the test is able to

determine the presence of alcohol in liquid.  He's just

testified that that in fact happened.  But the State

will stipulate that these are simply presumptive tests

and they are not admissible to prove that the defendant

was under the influence.  But they're being offered to

go to the officer's probable cause for arresting the

defendant.  So I'm not aware of any case law that says

that the officer can't testify that he performed the

test on a spilled beverage and it tested for alcohol.

MR. BOLEY:  Clearly he can testify that he

performed the test.  Just like because he can testify

that he performed the test as intended so he had some

person blow into a Breathalyzer, but he can't testify

to the results.  He can testify that, yeah, I waved

this thing around a spilled beverage, but he can't

testify yes or no or that it contained alcohol.

MS. LAVELL:  I will withdraw the question

and follow up.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Did you take into consideration the

results of the test that you performed on the spilled

liquid when making your determination that the 1:04PM
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defendant was under the influence?

MR. BOLEY:  Objection.  That's assuming

the answer to the question that I just objected to.

THE COURT:  You know, the officer can

testify to what he did.  He's testified that he did X,

Y and Z.  Based on the fact that he did it without

revealing the results.  He moved onto the next move

that he chose to do.  I will admit it to that purpose

only.

MR. BOLEY:  Yes, sir.

MS. LAVELL:  Thank you.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. So is it fair to say that there were

numerous indicators based on the things that you

personally observed, the tests that you performed --

did you also talk to witnesses?

A. I did.

Q. And did you factor what the witnesses said

into whether or not you believed him to be intoxicated?

A. Intoxicated and in control of the vehicle

at the time of the accident as well, yes.

Q. And based on the totality of the

circumstances you determined that the defendant for

this question was under the influence of alcohol and

was going to be placed under arrest? 1:05PM
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A. At that point, yes.

Q. Now, did you make a similar determination

that this particular vehicle and the defendant were

involved in the accident in the intersection that we

first mentioned at Anthem Parkway and Atchley?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Did you speak to the defendant in regard

to that accident?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Did the defendant admit to you that he was

in fact driving the Mercedes?

A. He did.

Q. Did he admit to you that he did in fact

leave the scene of the accident?  

A. He first claimed that he had never been in

an accident and then when I followed up on questioning,

he admitted that yes, he had been in an accident.

Q. Now, based on the defendant's statements

and the evidence that you collected from various

witnesses, in addition to being arrested for driving

under the influence did you arrest him for leaving the

scene of an accident?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Now, at the time of the arrest were you

aware that one of the individuals that had been in the 1:06PM
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car, a young lady by the name of Maxine Luber, had

suffered substantial bodily injury?

A. Yes.  I became aware -- at some point

while I was speaking with Jack I was informed by other

officers that she had injuries, yes.

Q. So prior to booking him did you already

have enough information that he would be charged with

DUI with substantial bodily harm or was it upgraded

later after her medical results?

A. I knew at the scene that she'd been

diagnosed with broken ribs and a sternum and so at that

point I decided to use the charge of DUI with

substantial bodily harm.

Q. Now, when you are dealing with an

individual thought to be intoxicated, beyond the

presumptive tests that you do at the field, whether

they're Breathalyzers or FSTs, HGNs, do you have blood

drawn or breath taken?

A. Yes.  I advised Jack --

Q. And when you say Jack, you're referring

to?

A. Mr. Banka.

Q. The defendant?

A. Yes, ma'am.  I advised him of Implied

Consent.  He consented to a blood test.  I transported 1:08PM
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him to Henderson Detention Center where a nurse drew

the blood from his arm and it was later tested.

Q. Did you observe her draw the blood?

A. Yes, ma'am.

MS. LAVELL:  Your Honor, I would like to

move -- or it's actually admitted by stipulation and I

just want to provide it to the Court after I approach

the witness with your permission with State's Exhibit

2.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. Are you familiar with the blood draw

declaration that the nurses fill out?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Do you have to witness it?

A. Yes.  I am there when they fill it out.

Q. Would you take a look at State's Exhibit 2

and tell me if this is in fact the blood draw connected

to this particular case?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you see the defendant's name on there?

A. I do.

Q. And is your signature at the bottom?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. On the left or the right?

A. It is on the left. 1:09PM
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Q. And that is just an affidavit indicating

that blood was drawn from the defendant on what's the

date?

A. December 1st, 2016.

Q. And that is the same date as the accident?

A. Yes, ma'am.

MS. LAVELL:  Your Honor, it's actually

been admitted by stipulation but I need your Honor to

admit it, please.

MR. BOLEY:  There is no objection.

THE COURT:  State's Exhibit 2 will be

admitted.

(State's Exhibit 2 was admitted.) 

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. What is it that you do with the vial or

vials of blood that are drawn from an individual?

A. Immediately after the nurse draws the

blood she provides them to me.  I put them back in the

kit and I seal it.  That kit is then immediately taken

to a refrigerated vault at our main station.  From

there it's provided to our forensic lab for testing.

Q. So you kind of talked in generalizations.

Is that what you did this in this particular case?

A. Oh, yes, ma'am.

Q. Did you request that there be a forensic 1:10PM
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exam conducted on the blood?

A. Yes.

Q. For the purposes of determining whether or

not the defendant was under the influence of alcohol?

A. Yes, ma'am.

MS. LAVELL:  Your Honor, I would move to

admit State's Exhibit 3 by stipulation.

MR. BOLEY:  I am not going to object.  So

stipulated so no objection.

THE COURT:  It will be admitted.  

(State's Exhibit 3 was admitted.) 

MS. LAVELL:  May I approach the witness?

THE COURT:  You may.

BY MS. LAVELL:  

Q. I am showing you what's titled Forensic

Laboratory Report of Examination, State's Exhibit 3.

Are you familiar with this form?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Is this a form that is produced after a

forensic analysis is done on various items?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Specifically in this case what was the

exam conducted on?

A. A vial of whole blood.

Q. Is this also associated with Jack Banka 1:10PM
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the defendant?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Is his name on the form?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. What was the outcome of the examination in

regards to the blood alcohol content?

A. It indicated that he had a blood alcohol

content at the time of withdrawal of .193.

Q. What is the legal limit to drive?

A. .08.

Q. So is that over two times the legal limit?

A. Yes, ma'am.  

MS. LAVELL:  I'll pass the witness.

THE COURT:  Cross.

MR. BOLEY:  Briefly.

 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. BOLEY:  

Q. Officer, you testified that you arrived at

the scene and there was still a car there, right?

A. At Anthem and Atchley?

Q. Yes.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What car was that?

A. It was an orange Nissan Cube. 1:11PM
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Q. How was that car positioned in the

intersection?

A. I honestly don't recall.

Q. Now, I heard, and this is just me not

hearing, you testified that you did field sobriety

tests on Mr. Banka?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you testify that you were not

certified in the three field sobriety tests?

A. No.  I was certified.

Q. Never mind.  That was just me not hearing.

Did you talk to a Gregory Larson at that

scene?

A. I talked to Gregory I think his last name

was Larson.  I'm sorry.  I can't confirm it off the top

of my head.

Q. Did he tell you that he saw the motor

vehicle accident?

MS. LAVELL:  Objection.  Hearsay.

THE COURT:  Sustained.

MR. BOLEY:  No further questions.

MS. LAVELL:  I have nothing further for

this witness.

THE COURT:  Thank you, officer.  You're

excused. 1:12PM
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MS. LAVELL:  The State has no further

witnesses, your Honor, and with the admission of

State's Exhibits 1, 2 and 3 the State rests.

THE COURT:  What's Exhibit 3?

MR. BOLEY:  I believe they admitted the

affidavit and blood draw results separately and the CAD

log was one that was admitted by stipulation but not

used for the purposes of the prelim.

THE COURT:  Formally I'll admit Exhibit 1.

I don't think there was actually a motion to admit --

MS. LAVELL:  Well, we --

THE COURT:  I understand there was a

stipulation, but you never brought it forward on any

particular witness.

MS. LAVELL:  Correct.

THE COURT:  And it remained in front of

the clerk on the bar.

MR. BOLEY:  There is no objection to

admitting it.

THE COURT:  So it will be admitted.

(State's Exhibit 1 was admitted.) 

MS. LAVELL:  With that State rests.

THE COURT:  Defense.

MR. BOLEY:  I have advised Mr. Banka of

his rights to testify and he will remain silent and we 1:14PM
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also rest.

THE COURT:  Any argument?

MS. LAVELL:  We reserve for rebuttal.

MR. BOLEY:  If I may?

THE COURT:  You may.

MR. BOLEY:  You've heard from several

witnesses today.  There are a couple problems with this

case.  First of all you heard from a doctor that he can

only testify from reviewing other records that the

State's trying to get at substantial bodily harm

through that doctor.  I don't believe that meets the

slight or marginal evidence standard that we're trying

to address today because clearly he has no personal

knowledge of any of the facts that he testified to,

just simply that they're written in -- medical records

prepared by somebody else.

The other thing is I would contend that

there was some -- when the officer was testifying about

the preliminary breath test he testified that he used

it for a purpose other than the intended purpose of the

preliminary breath test which we all know is for

somebody to blow on to test for alcohol.  I think that

calls his entire testimony into question if he was

doing that.  That being said I would just ask the Court

to dismiss these matters. 1:15PM
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MS. LAVELL:  First of all, your Honor,

expert witnesses do not have to have direct knowledge.

They're able to utilize various sources which they do

all the time to draw conclusions.  But this particular

doctor did in fact have firsthand knowledge.  He

testified that to the best of his recollection he

actually met with the victim in this particular case

and reviewed all of the documents and ultimately is the

one that decided when it was time to release her.  And

I kind of gathered from his testimony that when she was

released if medication was in fact prescribed he would

have been the one to prescribe is it.

Having said that even without the doctor's

testimony you heard from the victim who testified that

she had multiple broken ribs and multiple fractures and

the sternum, that she was in pain for she thought she

was maybe out of pain within a year.  Her husband

believed the pain was at least for six months and we

know during that time the pain was significant enough

that she needed to be taken care of by various members

of her family, specifically her husband who had to help

her in and out of bed, in the bathroom, help her do the

things she'd normally be able to do.  And so certainly

we have proven substantial bodily harm.

As to driving under the influence and 1:16PM
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having physical control, well, we know the defendant

had physical control because you heard testimony from

one of the witnesses who followed the defendant, saw

the defendant behind the wheel while the vehicle was

still running when he first approached him and

identified the individual in court today Mr. Banka as

the individual that had physical control of that

vehicle.  We know that he got out of that vehicle at

one point and got back into that vehicle, turned it on

and drove further away and then ultimately the

defendant ran from the scene and was located by law

enforcement.  So we know that he had physical control

of the vehicle.  We know it was the same facts that he

left the scene of the accident because as I stated he

had to be followed by this witness that testified to

locate him and then beyond leaving the scene of the

accident he left the scene of his own vehicle by

running on foot.

In addition to that you heard testimony

from the officer that just testified that when he

responded to the accident scene, which was a two car

collision, there was only one car there.  So he clearly

left the scene of the accident.

Finally, we know that this all occurred

while he was under the influence of alcohol over two 1:18PM
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times the legal limit as evidenced by the forensic exam

that is State's Exhibit 3.  So for all those reasons,

your Honor, respectfully the State would ask that you

bind him over to answer both Count 1 and Count 2.

THE COURT:  Last argument?  Anything?

MR. BOLEY:  I don't believe I have the

right to.

THE COURT:  Okay.  It appears to me based

upon the evidence presented at this preliminary hearing

that the alleged crimes have been committed and that

the defendant named in the complaint has committed

those crimes.  I hereby order that said defendant be

held to answer to said charges in the Eighth Judicial

District Court, State of Nevada, County of Clark.

THE CLERK:  July 10, 10:00 a.m.

 

         (The proceedings concluded.) 

 

* * * * * 

 

ATTEST:  Full, true and accurate

transcript of proceedings.

 

/S/Lisa Brenske 

________________________ 

LISA BRENSKE, CSR No. 186  1:19PM
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-18-333254-1

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor April 08, 2019COURT MINUTES

C-18-333254-1 State of Nevada
vs
Jack Banka

April 08, 2019 09:00 AM Calendar Call

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Ellsworth, Carolyn

Natali, Andrea

RJC Courtroom 16D

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Deft. present at liberty on Bond.  Mr. Boley stated he had tried to file a motion to continue the trial.  Ms. 
Lavell stated she had no opposition to the continuance.  Colloquy regarding the motion not getting filed 
due to the order show cause being dropped off late on Thursday.  Ms. Lavell conveyed the offer made to 
the Deft., that would have to be accepted within the next two weeks, otherwise there will be no other 
offers.  Mr. Boley acknowledged that was his understanding of the offer conveyed.  COURT ORDERED, 
defense motion to continue GRANTED; jury trial VACATED and RESET.  

BOND

6/17/19 - 9:00 AM - CALENDAR CALL

6/24/19 - 1:30 PM - JURY TRIAL

PARTIES PRESENT:
Jack Paul Banka Defendant

Thomas D Boley Attorney for Defendant

RECORDER: Corcoran, Lara

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 4/10/2019 April 08, 2019Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Andrea Natali
RA 000102



DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-18-333254-1

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor June 17, 2019COURT MINUTES

C-18-333254-1 State of Nevada
vs
Jack Banka

June 17, 2019 09:00 AM Calendar Call

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Ellsworth, Carolyn

Natali, Andrea; Velazquez, Jeanette

RJC Courtroom 16D

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Deft. present at liberty on bond.  Mr. Boley stated the matter had been negotiated and 
summarized the negotiations.  Ms. Pandukht stated she would agree to dismiss any additional 
charges.  Upon Court's canvass of the Deft. regarding the circumstances related to the crime, 
counsel requested a CONFERENCE AT THE BENCH.  Matter TRAILED for Mr. Boley to 
discuss the plea further with the Deft.  

Matter RECALLED.  Same parties present as before.  At the request of Mr. Boley COURT 
ORDERED, matter CONTINUED to Wednesday.  Guilty plea agreement RETURNED to Mr. 
Boley.  

BOND

CONTINUED TO:  6/19/19 - 9:00 AM

PARTIES PRESENT:
Jack Paul Banka Defendant

State of Nevada Plaintiff

Taleen   R Pandukht Attorney for Plaintiff

Thomas D Boley Attorney for Defendant

RECORDER: Feda, Rubina

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 6/18/2019 June 17, 2019Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Andrea Natali
RA 000103



DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-18-333254-1

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor June 19, 2019COURT MINUTES

C-18-333254-1 State of Nevada
vs
Jack Banka

June 19, 2019 09:00 AM Calendar Call

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Ellsworth, Carolyn

Natali, Andrea; Velazquez, Jeanette

RJC Courtroom 16D

JOURNAL ENTRIES

APPEARANCES CONTINUED:  Deft. not present.  John Watkins, Esq. and Michael Pariente, 
Esq. present.  

Upon Court's inquiry, Mr. Watkins stated the Deft. was on his way.  Further, Mr. Watkins stated 
he was not ready for trial and requested the trial be reset in the ordinary course.  Ms. Pandukht 
stated an Alford plea agreement had been prepared.  COURT ADVISED, the trial was not 
getting continued, as the rule indicated it shall not allow a substitution of counsel, if it resulted 
in a trial continuance.  Mr. Watkins argued the Deft. was entitled to have the attorney of his 
choice and noted a conflict had arisen.  COURT FURTHER ADVISED, it was not continuing 
the trial.  Mr. Watkins stated there was no way he could be ready for trial.  Mr. Boley stated this 
was the first he had heard about the substitution of counsel; additionally, advised he would do 
whatever the Court directed him to do.  Deft. now present at liberty on Bond.  Ms. Pandukht 
stated she and Ms. Lavell were not aware of the substitution, there wasn't an agreement to 
continue the trial and the State objected to a trial continuance, and if the Deft. does not enter a 
plea, she had been advised to withdraw the offer; further, announced ready for trial.  Matter 
TRAILED for the other calendar call matters to be called.  

Matter RECALLED.  Same parties present as before.  Upon Court's inquiry, Deft. stated he did 
not want to enter into the plea agreement.  Upon Court's further inquiry regarding whether 
counsel was ready for trial, Mr. Boley stated he had the same information as the State when 
he came in for today's hearing.  Further, Mr. Boley stated there was a conflict that had arisen 
with respect to a difference of view on the case.  Upon Court's further inquiry regarding 
whether Mr. Boley had not prepared for trial, Mr. Boley stated if the Court orders him to go to 
trial he will; however, advised he believed it would prejudice the Deft.  COURT ADVISED, 
counsel could associate in to help Mr. Boley with the trial; however, it was not continuing the 
trial.  Ms. Pandukht stated as the Deft. rejected the plea she was revoking the offer.  Counsel 
anticipated one week for trial.  Matter TRAILED for the other calendar call matter to be called.  

Matter RECALLED.  Same parties present as before, with the exception of Mr. Giles who is 
now present on behalf of the State.  COURT ADVISED, there were no other trials going 
forward except this case; therefore, ORDERED, jury trial SET to begin at 1:00 PM on Monday.  
Further statement by Mr. Boley regarding the difference in trial strategies; therefore, advised 

PARTIES PRESENT:
State of Nevada Plaintiff

Taleen   R Pandukht Attorney for Plaintiff

RECORDER: Corcoran, Lara

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 2Printed Date: 6/22/2019 June 19, 2019Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Andrea Natali
RA 000104



he should hire an expert and requested the trial be CONTINUED.  COURT ADVISED, the time 
to hire an expert was before today's date.  Trial date STANDS.  Mr. Boley stated he would be 
ready if the court orders him to be.  Mr. Giles announced ready.  

BOND

6/24/19 - 1:00 PM - JURY TRIAL

Page 2 of 2Printed Date: 6/22/2019 June 19, 2019Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Andrea Natali
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-18-333254-1

Felony/Gross Misdemeanor August 14, 2019COURT MINUTES

C-18-333254-1 State of Nevada
vs
Jack Banka

August 14, 2019 09:00 AM Defendant's Motion for Substitution of Attorney

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Ellsworth, Carolyn

Natali, Andrea

RJC Courtroom 16D

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Deft. present at liberty on Bond.  Upon Court's inquiry regarding whether the substitution would 
result in the sentencing date being continued or the plea being withdrawn, Mr. Pariente stated 
it would not.  Mr. Watkins stated that was not his intention at the present time.  COURT 
ORDERED, motion GRANTED.  Mr. Watkins stated the substitution of counsel had already 
been filed.  

BOND

10/23/19 - 9:00 AM - SENTENCING

PARTIES PRESENT:
Jack Paul Banka Defendant

John G. Watkins Attorney for Defendant

Michael   D. Pariente Attorney for Defendant

State of Nevada Plaintiff

Taleen   R Pandukht Attorney for Plaintiff

RECORDER: Corcoran, Lara

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 8/15/2019 August 14, 2019Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Andrea Natali
RA 000109



C-18-333254-1 

PRINT DATE: 11/13/2019 Page 1 of 2 Minutes Date: October 23, 2019 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
Felony/Gross Misdemeanor COURT MINUTES October 23, 2019 

 
C-18-333254-1 State of Nevada 

vs 
Jack Banka 

 
October 23, 2019 9:00 AM Sentencing  
 
HEARD BY: Ellsworth, Carolyn  COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 16D 
 
COURT CLERK: Andrea Natali 
 
RECORDER: Lara Corcoran 
 
REPORTER:  
 
PARTIES  
PRESENT: 

 
Banka, Jack Paul Defendant 
Pariente, Michael   D. Attorney 
State of Nevada Plaintiff 
Villani, Jacob J. Attorney 
Watkins, John G. Attorney 

 

 
JOURNAL ENTRIES 

 
- Deft. present at liberty on Bond.  Mr. Watkins orally argued that the information did not charge a 
crime.  Mr. Villani argued in opposition to the oral motion; noting there was a stipulated sentence.   
Further, Mr. Watkins requested to file a motion to arrest judgment in open court.  COURT ADVISED 
it would not allow the document to be filed in open court, as he could not ambush the state by filing 
the motion; however, advised counsel he could e-file something if he wanted to withdraw the plea.  
Mr. Watkins further argued regarding comingling a gross misdemeanor with a felony, that there was 
no offense charged, and the Court had no jurisdiction to adjudicate the Deft.  Mr. Villani orally 
moved to remand the Deft. into custody, or in the alternative order breath interlock monitoring; 
further, argued in opposition to the motion being filed, due to its untimeliness.  Mr. Watkins argued 
that the Deft. should remain out of custody, as he was not a flight risk and had appeared to all of the 
hearings.   Further arguments regarding whether the motion was a delay tactic.  COURT ADVISED, 
there was not a good reason to remand the Deft. into custody, and as to the additional monitoring, 
nothing had changed with the Deft.; ADDITIONALLY, the state had the right to file a response to the 
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C-18-333254-1 

PRINT DATE: 11/13/2019 Page 2 of 2 Minutes Date: October 23, 2019 
 

motion; therefore, ORDERED, sentencing CONTINUED and motion SET for hearing; briefing 
schedule IMPOSED as follows: 
Deft.'s motion DUE BY today 10/23/19,  
State's response DUE BY 11/6/19,  
Deft.'s reply DUE BY 11/13/19.   
 
BOND 
 
11/18/19 - 9:00 AM - SENTENCING ... MOTION TO ARREST JUDGMENT 
 
CLERK'S NOTE:  The foregoing minutes were updated to correct two grammatical errors (11/13/19 
amn). 
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Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
11/6/2019 1:00 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
(702) 966-5310 
Attorneys for Defendant 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 
 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, 

 Plaintiff, 

 vs. 

JACK BANKA,  

 Defendant 

  
 
 
Case No: C-18-333254-1 
Dept No: 5 
 

 
 

 
 

REPLY TO THE STATE’S OPOSITION OF DEFENDANT’S MOTION IN 
ARREST OF JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO NRS 176.525 

 
COMES NOW Defendant, JACK BANKA, through his attorney, MICHAEL D. 

PARIENTE, ESQUIRE., with JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQUIRE., Of Counsel, and 

replies to the State’s Opposition. 

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

 
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 

 

 

 

Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
11/12/2019 2:23 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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I. 
 

THE STATE’S ADMISSION THAT JACK BANKA WAS IMPROPERLY 
CHARGED WITH THE ELEMENTS “HIGHWAY OR PREMISES TO WHICH 

THE PUBLIC HAS ACCESS” REQURIES THAT HIS MOTION IN ARREST OF 
JUDGMENT BE GRANTED 

 
   To legally charge an offense, the formal accusation (indictment, information or 

complaint) must set forth each and every element of the statutory offense to be 

charged.1 The substitution of elements from separate statutory offenses does not 

charge an offense and fails to confer subject matter jurisdiction on the Court. It is 

uncontroverted that the State commingled elements from NRS 484C.110 with elements 

of NRS 484C.430 in the Amended Information filed against Banka.  

 The State admits that its substitution of the NRS 484C.110 element “highway or 

premises to which the public has access” for the felony element “on or off the highways” 

in NRS 484C.430 was improper.  

 The State admits that Mr. Banka was improperly charged. The State says,  

It [the Amended Information] correctly cites the general DUI 
statute, NRS 484C.110 AND the penalty statute NRS 484C.430. In 
doing so the body of the charge incorrectly used the 
language from NRS 484C.110 of “highway or on a premises 
to which the public has access” in place of the “on or off a 
highway” language of NRS 484C.430. 

 

State’s Opposition (S.O.), p. 14, ls. 18-22. (emphasis added.) 

The State’s admission requires this Court to grant Banka’s Motion In Arrest Of 

 
1. Banka has provided a plethora of legal authority for what is required to charge an 
offense in his Motion in Arrest of Judgment and will not repeat it here for reasons of 
judicial economy. However, it must be noted again, there is no statute criminalizing 
the “charge” made against Mr. Banka in Count 1 of the Amended Information. See 
again, NRS 193.050(1).  
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Judgment.2  

II. 
 

ADDRESSING THE STATE’S SPECFIC OBJECTIONS 
 
 

1. The State’s “Statement of the Case” is irrelevant here: 

 A crime is made by the State alleging each and every element of the offense in the 

indictment, information or complaint. See, Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 

U.S. 224, 228 (1998) (“An indictment must set forth each element of the crime that it 

charges.” (emphasis added.); United States v. Cook, 17 Wall. 168, 174 (1872)  (“ . . . it is 

universally true that no indictment is sufficient if it does not accurately and clearly 

allege all the ingredients of which the offense is composed.”) See also, Hamling v. 

United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974); Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 763 

(1962). The Court in State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161, 164, 955 P.2d 183 (1998) 

recognized, “[a]n indictment, standing alone, must contain: (1) each and every 

element of the crime charged . . . .”3 (emphasis added.) The determination of 

whether the Banka Amended Information charged a DUI offense is to be made solely 

from the elements listed in the Amended Information itself. Consideration of 

information outside the Amended Information is improper and prohibited. The Court 

in Ex Parte Alexander4 held, “ . . . the failure [to allege that the crime was 

 
2.  Jack Banka could not be found to have knowingly and intelligently entered a plea to 
a NRS 484C.430 offense when the Amended Information alleged misdemeanor 
elements which were substituted for the felony element. Jack was never made aware of 
the elements of NRS 484C.430 offense! 
 
3. This requirement prohibits the State from alleging or relying on only part of an element.  
  
4. 80 Nev. 354, 358, 393 P.2d 615 (1964).   
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committed in the State of Nevada] being fatal to the sufficiency of the 

information could not be cured by evidence tending to show where the crime 

was committed.” Id., 80 Nev. at 358. (emphasis added.) Therefore, the State’s 

“Statement of the Case” is not only irrelevant but also improperly prejudicial and must 

be ignored by this Court.  

2. State’s alleged waiver claim: 

 The State’s assertion that Attorney Boley waived defects of Count 1 during 

the plea is disingenuous. Attorney Boley’s waiver of defects went to the Court’s  

striking Court 2, leaving the scene. See, Plea Transcript dated June 24, 2019, ps. 

3-4, ls. 15-25; 1-6. There was no waiver as to Count 1. Even if there had been, a 

waiver of jurisdiction by the parties can’t be done. See, fn 7, infra.  

3. Paragraph I of the State’s Opposition:5 

 The State’s argument that this Court has subject matter jurisdiction because “. . . 

A CRIME IS PROPERLY CHARGED PURSUANT TO NRS 484C.110 AND 

484C.430” lacks merit. S.O., p.6, l.1. (emphasis added.) The State’s admission that 

Jack Banka was improperly charged by using elements from NRS 484C.110 defeats its  

jurisdictional argument. The commingling of two (2) separate and distinct criminal 

statutes does not charge an offense and fails to confer subject matter jurisdiction on 

 
5. The State’s assertion that this Court has not adjudicated Jack Banka is incorrect. This Court found 
Mr. Banka guilty on October 23, 2019.   
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the Court.6 See again, Ex Parte Alexander.7  

 The indictment in Ex Parte Alexander failed to allege that the murder occurred in 

Nevada. Absent this allegation, the indictment failed to charge an offense. The State 

admits that the failure to allege where the offense occurred “. . . would result in the 

court lacking jurisdiction.” S.O., p.6, l. 13. (emphasis added.) The State’s acquiesces 

that jurisdiction was lacking in Ex Parte Alexander supports Banka.  

 The Court in Williams v. Municipal Court8 held that the complaint did not charge 

an offense thereby failing to confer subject matter jurisdiction on the court because the 

law requires the complainant to swear before the magistrate, not a notary public. Any 

argument that the situation in Williams is more egregious than prosecuting a person 

on improper elements of the offense must fall on deaf ears. Williams supports Banka, 

not the State.  

 The State’s assertion that because Banka’s Amended Information alleges that the 

offense occurred in Clark County, Nevada “. . . the State has properly established this 

Court has jurisdiction over the matter.” S.O., p.7, l. 11. The State’s assertion lacks 

merit. It falsely assumes that the Amended Information charges an offense, which it 

 
6. A court cannot act without subject matter jurisdiction and, if it does, all its acts are 
void. Rhode Island v. Massachusetts, 37 U.S. 657, 718 (1938); State Indus. System v. 
Sleeper, 100 Nev. 267, 269, 679 P.2d 1273 (1984). Jurisdiction cannot be waived or 
created when none exist. Vaile v. Dist. Ct., 118 Nev. 262, 276, 44 P.3d 506 (2002). 
Jurisdiction cannot be conferred upon the court by actions of the parties and principles 
of estoppel and waiver do not apply. Richardson v. United States, 943 F.2d 1107, 1113 
(9th Cir.) (1991); State of Nevada v. Justice Court, 112 Nev. 803, 806, 918 P.2d 401 
(1996).  
  
7. 80 Nev. 354, 393 P.2d 615 (1964).  
  
8. 85 Nev. 425, 429, 456 P.3d 440 (1969).  
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does not. The State has improperly substituted NRS 484C.110 elements of “highway or 

premises to which the public has access” for the felony element of “on or off the 

highways” in NRS 484C.430. Again, the State admitted that the substitution did occur 

and was improper.  

 

4. Paragraph II and III of the State’s Opposition: 

 The State’s reliance on its claim of lack of prejudice is misplaced. Prejudice is not 

a factor to be considered when determining whether Banka’s Amended Information 

charges an offense. A formal accusation which fails to charge an offense will always fail 

to charge an offense until amended. The absence of prejudice does not magically or 

legally turn a formal accusation which fails to charge an offense into one which does. 

Whether or not Jack Banka is prejudiced by the State’s Amended Information which 

fails to charge an offense is irrelevant.9 

 The State’s attempt to make Banka’s Motion in Arrest of Judgment a “notice” 

issue lacks merit. Jack Banka is not challenging the sufficiency of the Amended 

Information for lack of “notice.” He admits that the Amended Information put him on 

notice that the elements of “highway or premises to which the public has access” were 

being used to prosecute him. Jack’s claim is that the Amended Information fails to 

charge an offense and fails to confer subject matter jurisdiction on this Court.  

 The State’s Opposition regarding the citation to the statute being charged lacks 

 
9. However, Mr. Banka is prejudiced by the State’s improper Amended Information. An 
acquittal of the DUI would be null and void, thus denying him constitutional protection 
against double jeopardy. See, Ex Parte Alexander, 80 Nev. at 359. (“An acquittal . . . by 
a court having no jurisdiction is void . . . . ”) 
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merit. It’s the State’s inappropriate commingling of the elements which is dispositive, 

not the cite or the lack thereof to a statute.  

 The State’s reference to alternative pleading is misplaced. The issue in Banka is 

the failure of the Amended Information to charge an offense. The State’s argument 

that 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430 have the same “highway” element under both 

statutes is false. “On or off the highways” is far more expansive than “highway.” The 

State’s argument also ignores that Banka’s Amended Information subjects him to the 

element “on premises to which the public has access.” 

 The State’s cite to State v. Jones10 and trial variance is inapposite. The indictment 

in Jones, unlike the Amended Information in Banka, charged an offense. The failure of 

Banka’s Amended Information to charge an offense is not subject to a reduced 

standard. Whether or not a formal accusation fails to charge an offense is determined 

solely from the language set forth in that document. See again, Ex Parte Alexander, 

supra; Williams v. Municipal Judge, supra.  

 The 9th Circuit cases cited by the State are irrelevant. All are cases where the 

charging document DID charge an offense. Additionally, the cite to the New York 

jurisdiction for the proposition that the indictment need not refer to a specific statute is 

not the law in Nevada. See, NRS 173.075(3) which states in pertinent part, “[t]he 

indictment or information must state for each count the official or customary citation of 

the statute. . . which the defendant is alleged therein to have violated.”  

 

 

 
10. 96 Nev. 71, 605 P.2d 202 (1980).   
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5. Paragraph IV of the State’s Opposition: 

 The State admits that NRS 484C.110, “. . . does require driving behavior on a 

highway or premises to which the public has access.” S.O., p.15, ls. 25-26. This is 

another admission that Banka’s Motion in Arrest of Judgment is meritorious. 

 The reference to NRS 484C.430 in NRS 484C.400 is to provide notice that a 

violation of NRS 484C.430 can be used for enhancement of a NRS 484C.110 violation 

and nothing more.  

 The State’s assertion that NRS 484C.430 is not a substantive offense but rather a 

penalty enhancement statute has absolutely no support in law. There is no Nevada 

case holding that NRS 484C.430 is an enhancement only statute. A reading of NRS 

484C.430 shows that is a substantive offense with penalties for its violation. The 

statute lists the substantive elements of the offense as well as the penalties for its 

violation. NRS 484C.110 has absolutely nothing to do with NRS 484C.430 except to 

incorporate the levels of the prohibitive substances which are contained in NRS 

484C.110. The State admits that NRS 484C.110 and NRS 484C.430 are separate and 

distinct, citing Hudson v. Warden.11  

 The State attacks Banka’s reference to Blockburger12 showing that NRS 484C.110 

and NRS 484C.430 are separate and distinct statutes. The State previously admitted 

that the two statutes are different. Now the State argues they are the same! This is an 

obvious contradiction.  

 Contrary to the State’s assertion, NRS 484C.110 does not require “any act or 

 
11. 117 Nev. 387, 22 P.3d 1154 (2001).  
 
12.  Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).  
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neglects any duty imposed by law.” This element is limited to NRS 484C.430. 

 The State makes clear that “highway or premises to which the public has access” 

covers conduct different than “on or off the highways.” This is exactly the basis for 

Banka’s Motion in Arrest of Judgment. The misdemeanor elements under NRS 

484C.110 are materially different than “on or off the highways” set forth in NRS 

484C.430. A person may be found guilty under NRS 484C.430 yet be acquitted under 

NRS 484C.110. What better example of showing that “highway or premises to which 

the public has access” is not the same as “on or off the highways.” 

 

CONCLUSION 

The State substituted the misdemeanor “elements” of “highway or premises to 

which the public has access” for the felony “element” of “on or off the highways”. The 

State’s commingling of the two (2) separate and distinct criminal statutes does not 

charge an offense and fails to confer subject matter jurisdiction on this Court.  

Therefore, Jack’s Motion in Arrest of Judgment must be granted. 

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

        
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the ____ day of ______ 2019, that I electronically 

filed the foregoing Reply with the Clerk of the Court by using the electronic filing 

system.  

The following participants in this case are registered electronic filing system 

users and will be served electronically:  

Maria Lavell – District Attorney  
Maria.Lavell@clarkcountyda.com 

200 Lewis Avenue 
Third Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 

And 
 

Michael Giles – District Attorney  
Michael.Giles@clarkcountyda.com 

200 Lewis Avenue 
Third Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
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MOT 
THE PARIENTE LAW FIRM, P.C.                                              
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
(702) 966-5310 
Attorneys for Defendant 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 
 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, 
 Plaintiff, 
 vs. 
JACK BANKA,  
 Defendant 

  
 
 
Case No: C-18-333254-1 
Dept No: 5 
 

 
 

 
 

MOTION TO WITHDRAW PREVIOUSLY ENTERED PLEA OF GUILTY 
 

COMES NOW Defendant, JACK BANKA, through his attorney, MICHAEL D. 

PARIENTE, ESQUIRE., with JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQUIRE., Of Counsel, and moves 

this Honorable Court for an Order allowing Jack Banka to withdraw his previously 

entered plea of guilty (Alford) pursuant to NRS 176.165 on the grounds that the plea 

was not “knowingly” and “intelligently” entered, to wit: Jack Banka did not know or 

understand the elements of NRS 484C.430.1 

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

 
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 

 
1. The Amended Information to which Jack Banka pled improperly alleged “highway or premises to 
which the public has access” which is not an element of NRS 484C.430.   

Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
11/15/2019 12:00 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff 

TO: DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff 

YOU AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the 

undersigned will bring the above and foregoing Motion on for hearing before the Court 

at the Courtroom of the above-entitled Court on the ____ day of ____________, 2019, at 

______m. of said day, in Department ____ of said Court. 

        
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
(702) 966-5310 
Attorneys for Defendant 
 
 
 

 
JURISDICTION 

 
   All motions to withdraw a previously entered plea of guilty pursuant to NRS 

176.165 must be first filed in District Court. Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 

P.2d 721 (1986).  

 

RELEVANT FACTS 
 

 Jack Banka pled to the Amended Information which contained incorrect elements 

for a violation of NRS 484C.430. “Highway or premises to which the public has access” 

is not an element of NRS 484C.430. A defendant who is unaware of the elements of the 
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offense charged cannot be said or held to have entered his guilty plea “knowingly” and 

“intelligently”.  

 

 
I 
 

LAW AND ARGUMENT 

A. 

JACK BANKA’S GUILTY PLEA TO DUI WAS NOT KNOWINGLY AND 
INTELLIGENTLY MADE BECAUSE MR. BANKA DID NOT UNDERSTAND 
THE TRUE AND CORRECT ELEMENTS OF THE NRS 484C.430 OFFENSE 

 
a. The State admitted that it improperly substituted the elements 

from NRS 484C.110 for the element in NRS 484C.430.  
 

The United States Constitution is implicated when a state court accepts a 

defendant’s plea of guilty or nolo contendere.2 Boykin v. Alabama.3 The Court in Higby 

v. Sheriff4 held that “[t]he defendant [must] understand[ ] the nature of the charge 

itself, i.e. the ‘elements’ of the crime to which he is pleading guilty.”5 Id., 86 

Nev, at 781. (emphasis added.)  

 
2. North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970) (An Alford plea is treated as one of nolo 
contendere.) 
 
3. 395 U.S. 238 (1969).   
 
4. 86 Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 959 (1970).  
 
5. In order to charge a public offense, an indictment, information or complaint must allege every 
element of the offense. See, Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 U.S. 224, 228 (1998) (“An 
indictment must set forth each element of the crime that it charges.” (emphasis added.); United 
States v. Cook, 17 Wall. 168, 174 (1872)  (“ . . . it is universally true that no indictment is sufficient 
if it does not accurately and clearly allege all the ingredients of which the offense is composed.”)5 
See also, Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974); Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 
763 (1962). The Court in State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161, 164, 955 P.2d 183 (1998) recognized, 
“[a]n indictment, standing alone, must contain: (1) each and every element of the crime charged . . . 
.” (emphasis added.)  
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The Amended Information does not set forth the correct elements of a NRS 

484C.430 violation. The State has improperly substituted the elements of “highway or 

premises to which the public has access” from NRS 484C.110 for the element “on or off 

the highways” in NRS 484C.430. The State’s commingling of the two separate and 

distinct statutes not only fails to charge an offense,6 but also fails to inform Jack 

Banka of the true and correct elements of NRS 484C.430.  

The prosecutor, defense attorney or this Court never mentioned, addressed or 

discussed the inclusion of the wrong elements of NRS 484C.430 set forth in the 

Amended Information. The Court has the duty “to ensure that [it] has sufficient 

information to conclude that a defendant understands the consequences of a plea as 

well as the nature of the offense”. Freeze, 116 Nev. at 1105.7 (emphasis added.) This 

Court never discussed during the plea the substance of the elements alleged in the 

Amended Information. 

Jack Banka cannot be said or held to have understood the “charge” i.e. elements 

of the offense filed against him when the elements alleged are not the elements of NRS 

484C.430.  

 

 

 

 
 
6. See, NRS 193.050(1). There is no statute criminalizing the DUI “charge” filed against Jack! 
Under the circumstances in Banka, this Court never acquired subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate 
the case- period.  
 
7. State v. Freeze, 116 Nev. 1097, 13 P.3d 443 (2000).   
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CONCLUSION 

Since the Amended Information alleged the wrong elements, Jack Banka could 

not be held to understand the “charge” filed against him. Therefore, his plea of guilty 

was not “knowingly” and “intelligently” made and must be allowed to be withdrawn.8 

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

        
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
(702) 966-5310 
Attorneys for Defendant 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
8. Additionally, Jack Banka did not fully understand the consequences of his plea. Jack was never 
told that this Court had to impose a minimum fine of $2,000 dollars. He was led to believe that the 
fine could be any amount up to $5,000 dollars. See, Plea Transcript (June 24, 2019), ps.4-5, ls. 19-
25; ls. 1-6. This is contrary to the law. Therefore, Jack Banka did not understand the consequences 
of his plea. This is an additional reason why this Court should allow Jack Banka to withdraw his 
previous entered plea of guilty. 
 Equally dispositive here is the fact that not one defense Motion was filed on behalf of Jack 
Banka. This is a factor which must be considered regarding Jack’s Motion to Withdraw his plea. See 
Stevenson v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 503-504, 354 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2015).  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the _____ day of November 2019, that I 

electronically filed the foregoing Motion with the Clerk of the Court by using the 

electronic filing system.  

The following participants in this case are registered electronic filing system 

users and will be served electronically:  

Maria Lavell – District Attorney  
maria.lavell@clarkcountyda.com 

200 Lewis Avenue 
Third Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 

     And 

 

Michael Giles – District Attorney  
michael.giles@clarkcountyda.com 

200 Lewis Avenue 
Third Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 

                                ___________________________ 

                                Chris Barden, an employee 

                                of Pariente Law Firm, P.C.   
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MOT 
THE PARIENTE LAW FIRM, P.C.                                              
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
(702) 966-5310 
Attorneys for Defendant 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 
 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, 

 Plaintiff, 

 vs. 

JACK BANKA,  

 Defendant 

  
 
 
Case No: C-18-333254-1 
Dept No: 5 
 

 
 

 
 

AMENDED MOTION TO WITHDRAW PREVIOUSLY ENTERED PLEA OF 
GUILTY 

 
COMES NOW Defendant, JACK BANKA, through his attorney, MICHAEL D. 

PARIENTE, ESQUIRE., with JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQUIRE., Of Counsel, and moves 

this Honorable Court for an Order allowing Jack Banka to withdraw his previously 

entered plea of guilty (Alford) pursuant to NRS 176.165 on the grounds that Jack did 

not understand the nature of the charge i.e. the elements of the offense, the 

consequences of the plea, the lack of Motions filed by his previous defense counsel and 

his valid defenses to the DUI charge. 

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

 
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 

Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
11/19/2019 2:30 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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 NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff 

TO: DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintiff 

YOU AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the 

undersigned will bring the above and foregoing Motion on for hearing before the Court 

at the Courtroom of the above-entitled Court on the 4th day of December, 2019, at 9:00 

a.m. of said day, in Department 5 of said Court. 

        
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
(702) 966-5310 
Attorneys for Defendant 
 

 
 

JURISDICTION 
 

   All motions to withdraw a previously entered plea of guilty pursuant to NRS 

176.165 must be first filed in District Court. Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 

P.2d 721 (1986). 

I 
 

LAW AND ARGUMENT 

A. 

A TRIAL JUDGE HAS VAST DESCRETION TO WITHDRAW A GUILTY PLEA 
FOR ANY REASON WHICH IS FAIR AND JUST EVEN WHEN THE PLEA WAS 

KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY MADE 
 

a. Jack Banka should be allowed to have a trial.  
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This Court has “vast discretion” under NRS 176.165 to grant Jack’s timely 

request to withdraw his previously entered guilty plea to NRS 484C.430.  See State v. 

Lewis1. 

  A district court has vast discretion with respect to determining 
  the merits of a presentence motion to withdraw a guilty plea and, 
  in fact, may grant such motion for any reason that is fair and 
  just.  Moreover, when the district court grants a presentence 
  motion to withdraw a guilty plea, the State generally suffers no 
  substantial prejudice.  The State may proceed to trial on the ori- 
  ginal charges or enter into a new plea bargain with the defendant. 
 
Id., 124 Nev. at 137.  (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added) 
     

 A timely motion to withdraw a guilty plea must be judged by a relaxed standard.  See 

Molina v. State2 ( “Accordingly, Nevada trial and appellate courts must apply a more 

relaxed standard to presentence motions to withdraw guilty pleas than post-sentencing 

motions.”) Id.,120 Nev. at 191. 

     The Court in State v. District Court3 addressed  NRS 176.165, 
 
             Was the lower court in error in allowing Robert to withdraw    
  his guilty plea also?  We think not. 
  NRS 176.165 provides that: 
 
          “Except as provided in NRS 176.225, a motion  
   to withdraw a plea of guilty or of nolo contendere  
   may be made only before sentence is imposed or  
   imposition of sentence is suspended; but to correct     
   manifest injustice the court after sentence may set  
   aside the judgment of conviction and permit  the  
   defendant to withdraw his plea.” 
 

 
1.   124 Nev. 132, 178 P.3d 146 (2008). 
 
2.   120 Nev. 185, 87 P.3d 533 (2004). 
 
3.   85 Nev. 381, 455 P.2d 923 (1969).  
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Id., 381 Nev. at 384. 
 
         The above statute was taken from and is substantially the same 
  as Rule 32 (d), Fed. Rules Crim. Proc.  The action of the lower  
  court is discretionary and will not be reversed unless there has been 
  a clear abuse of that discretion.  Gearhart v. United States, 272 F.2d 
  499 (D.C. Cir. 1959); Bergen v. United States, 145 F.2d 181 (8th Cir. 
  1944).  The granting of the motion to withdraw one’s plea before 
  sentencing is proper where for any substantial reason the granting 
  of the privilege seems “fair and just.”  Gearhart v. United States, 
  supra.  It is even held in Woodring v. United States, 248 F.2d 166 
  (8th Cir. 1957): “The question of a defendant’s guilt or innocence   
  is not an issue on a motion under Rule 32 (d) of the Federal Rules 
  of Criminal Procedure, 18 U.S.C.A., for leave to withdraw a plea 
  of guilty. . . .” (Emphasis added.)  See also United States v. Paglia, 
  190 F.2d 445 (2d Cir. 1951). 
 
85 Nev. at 385. (emphasis original.) 
 
     This Court has full authority to grant Jack’s motion to withdraw his plea even 

assuming arguendo (which is not the case here) it was entered knowingly and 

voluntarily. The Court in Riley v. State4 stated, 

                Riley contends that the chief judge erred in allowing him to with- 
  draw his plea of guilty to the rape charge.  The authorities he cites 
  pertain solely to the entry of a plea of guilty, i.e., whether such plea 
  was voluntarily and knowingly made.  No similar determination is 
  required prior to allowing the withdrawal of a guilty plea. 
 
Id., 91 Nev. at 198.  (footnote omitted) (emphasis added) 
 
     Jack’s request to withdraw his previously entered plea of guilty is timely under 

NRS 176.165, is “fair and just” and should be granted.  

 

Jack did not understand the elements of the offense: 

The United States Constitution is implicated when a court accepts a defendant’s 

 
4   91 Nev. 196, 533 P.2d 456 (1975). 
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plea of guilty or nolo contendere.  Boykin v. Alabama5.  Boykin explained, “[w]hat is at 

stake for an accused facing death or imprisonment demands the utmost solicitude of 

what courts are capable in canvassing this matter with the accused to make sure he 

has a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequences.”  395 

U.S. at 234-244.  (emphasis added.)  See also, State v. Freese6, (“A colloquy is a 

constitutional mandate to ensure that a court has sufficient information to conclude 

that a defendant understands the consequences of a plea as well as the nature of the 

offenses.”)  116 Nev. at 1105. The Court in Love v. State7 stated, “[T]he record must 

reveal, inter alia, that the accused entered his or her plea with an understanding of the 

charge and the elements of the offense.”  (emphasis added.)  A plea cannot be 

voluntary and knowing “. . . unless the defendant possesses an understanding of the 

law in relation to the facts.”  McCarthy v. United States, 394 U.S. 459, 466 (1969). 

The Court in Higby v. Sheriff8 held that “[t]he defendant [must] understand[ ] 

the nature of the charge itself, i.e. the ‘elements’ of the crime to which he is 

pleading guilty.” Id., 86 Nev. at 781. (emphasis added.) The Amended Information 

does not set forth the correct elements of a NRS 484C.430 violation. The State admits 

it has improperly substituted the elements of “highway or premises to which the public 

has access” from NRS 484C.110 for the element “on or off the highways” in NRS 

 
5. 395 U.S. 238 (1969)  
 
6. 116 Nev. 1097, 13 P.3d 442 (2000)   
 
7. 99 Nev. 147, 147, 659 P.2d 876, 877 (1983)  
 
8. 86 Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 959 (1970).  
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484C.430. The prosecutor, defense attorney or this Court never mentioned, addressed 

or discussed the inclusion of the wrong elements of NRS 484C.430 set forth in the 

Amended Information. The State’s commingling of the two separate and distinct 

statutes not only fails to charge an offense,9 but also fails to inform Jack Banka of the 

true and correct elements of NRS 484C.430. Jack Banka cannot be said or held to have 

understood the “charge” i.e. elements of the offense filed against him when the 

elements alleged are not the elements of NRS 484C.430.  

The Court has the duty “to ensure that [it] has sufficient information to conclude 

that a defendant understands the consequences of a plea as well as the nature of 

the offense”. Freeze, 116 Nev. at 1105.10 (emphasis added.) This Court never discussed 

during the plea the substance any of the elements alleged in the Amended Information. 

Therefore, the Court could not possibly know that Jack understood each element of the 

DUI offense at the time he entered his plea.  

Additionally, the “however slight” language in the Amended Information is not 

the law and has never been. See, this Court’s Order addressing this issue in Vitale 

marked as Exhibit A. Also, the language “failing to pay full time attention to his 

driving, and/or failing to exercise due care and/or failing to drive in a careful and 

prudent manner” are conclusory pleadings in violation of the Sixth Amendment 

“notice” requirement in the United States Constitution. This Court in Vitale stated 

that the “due care” allegation was unconstitutionally conclusory. It cannot lawfully be 

said that Jack Banka understood the nature of the charge brought against him.   

 
9. See, NRS 193.050(1). There is no statute criminalizing the DUI “charge” filed against Jack!  
 
10. State v. Freeze, 116 Nev. 1097, 13 P.3d 443 (2000).   
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Jack did not understand the consequences of his plea: 

Jack was never told that this Court had to impose at least minimum fine of 

$2,000 dollars. Jack was lead to believe that the fine could be any amount up to $5,000 

dollars. See, Plea Transcript (June 24, 2019), ps. 4-5, ls. 19-25; ls. 1-6. The Court’s 

representation was contrary to law. A fine is an important part of the DUI penalty. 

Therefore, Jack Banka did not understand the consequences of his plea.  

 

Jack’s previous defense attorney should have filed the following Motions: 

1. A motion in limine pursuant to State v. Dist. Ct. (Armstrong, 127 Nev. 

927, 267 P.3d 777 (2011). 

2. A motion challenging the Preliminary Breath Test (PBT) pursuant to 

State v. Sample, 134 Nev., Adv Opin. No. 23 (April 5, 2018). 

3. A motion challenging the conclusory pleadings pursuant to 

Earlywine v. Sheriff, 94 Nev. 100, 575 P.2d 599 (1998). 

4. A motion challenging the “however slight” language in the Amended 

Information pursuant to Cotter v. State, 103 Nev. 303, 305, 738 P.2d 

506 (1987) and Sheriff v. Burcham, 124 Nev. 1247, 198 P.3d 326 (2008). 

None of these motions were filed on behalf of Jack Banka.  
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B. 

JACK BANKA HAS VALID DEFENSES TO THE STATE’S DUI CHARGE AND 
SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO PROCEED TO TRIAL11 

 
As to the impairment and per se theories, there is insufficient information to 

allow the State to do a scientifically reliable retrograde extrapolation. See, Armstrong, 

supra.  There is only one blood draw which was obtained over one (1) hour after the 

accident. It is imperative for a valid retrograde extrapolation calculation to know how 

much alcohol was consumed and when the first and last drink occurred. The police did 

not ask these questions!  

There is evidence that Jack could have consumed alcohol immediately after the 

accident. There was an alcoholic beverage which partially spilled in Jack’s vehicle . 

The Officer’s observations of Jack do not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

Jack was impaired. Clearly, Jack has valid defenses to the impairment and per se 

theories.  

The “two-hour” theory is equally defensible. First, a Motion to Suppress the 

evidentiary BAC reading is appropriate because the Officer did not give Jack the choice 

of submitting to a breath test in lieu of blood. See, NRS 484C.160(5)(a) (“. . . the person 

 
11. Jack still maintains that the Amended Information does not charge an offense and fails to confer 
jurisdiction on this Court. In order to charge a public offense, an indictment, information or 
complaint must allege every element of the offense. See, Almendarez-Torres v. United States, 523 
U.S. 224, 228 (1998) (“An indictment must set forth each element of the crime that it charges.” 
(emphasis added.); United States v. Cook, 17 Wall. 168, 174 (1872)  (“ . . . it is universally true that 
no indictment is sufficient if it does not accurately and clearly allege all the ingredients of which the 
offense is composed.”)11 See also, Hamling v. United States, 418 U.S. 87, 117 (1974); Russell v. 
United States, 369 U.S. 749, 763 (1962). The Court in State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161, 164, 955 
P.2d 183 (1998) recognized, “[a]n indictment, standing alone, must contain: (1) each and every 
element of the crime charged . . . .” (emphasis added.) 
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may refuse to submit to a blood test if means are reasonable available to perform a 

breath test.”); NRS 484C.240(2) (Unless the Officer substantially complies with the 

implied consent law, which he did not do in Banka, the evidentiary test reading is 

inadmissible.) Second, a review of the testing of Jack’s blood is imperative. See, NRS 

484C.240(3) (“If a person submits to a chemical test provided for in NRS 484C.150 or 

484C.160, full information concerning that test must be made available, upon request 

of the person, to the person or his or her attorney.”) This request was never made in 

Jack’s case. It is common to find material errors in the Lab’s blood alcohol testing.  

CONCLUSION 

 The charge filed against Jack Banka is serious requiring a mandatory prison 

sentence. As evidence of the seriousness, this Court has indicated that it would 

sentence Jack to four (4) years in the Nevada State Prison. Jack should be entitled to 

defend against the serious charge before a jury. A plea of guilty is not designed to 

foreclose a defendant’s right to have a trial. This Court has vast discretion to withdraw 

a plea of guilty and should exercise that discretion is Jack’s case. Therefore, Jack 

Banka’s Motion to Withdraw the plea should be granted on the grounds that Jack did 

not understand the nature of the charge i.e. the elements of the offense, the 

consequence of the plea,  the lack of Motions filed by his previous defense counsel and 

his valid defenses to the DUI charge. 

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
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THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

-vs-

JESSICA LYNN VITALE,
#30743t7

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: C-17-322753-l

DEPT NO: V
Defendant.

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE THE LANGUAGE OF
"HOWEVER SLIGHT" IN THE INFORMATION BECAUSE IT IS NOT (AND

NEVER WAS) THE DEFINITION OF "UNDER THE INFLUENCE'' IN NEVADA
DATE OF HEARING: August9,20l7

TIME OF HEARING: 9:00 A.M.

THIS MATTER having come on for hearing before the above entitled Court on the 9th

day of August, 2017, the Defendant being represented by JOHN GLENN WATKINS, ESQ.,

the Plaintiff being represented by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney, through

THOMAS J. MOSKAL, Deputy District Attorney, and the Court having heard the arguments

of counsel, based on the pleadings, and good cause appearing therefore,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Defendant's Motion to Strike the Language of
"However Slight" in the Information because it is not (and never was) the Definition of
"Under the Influence" in Nevada is GRANTED as unopposed.

DATED this /* day of December, 2017.

T:\ORDERS\C-17-322753.1 (JESSICA VITALE) ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO STRIKE THE LANGUAGE HOWEVER

Case Number: C-17-322753-1

Electronically Filed
12/4/2017 10:42 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Certificate of Service

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the tlh of Decemb er 2017 she served the

foregoing ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO STRIKE THE LANGUAGE

OF "HOWEVER SLIGHT" IN THE INFORMATION BECAUSE IT IS NOT (AND
NEVER WAS) THE DEFINITION OF "UNDER THE INFLUENCE" IN NEVADA bY

faxing, mailing, or electronically serving a copy to counsel as listed below:

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Thomas Moskal, Deputy District Attorney.

Clark County District Attorney

John G. Watkins, Esq.

Attorneyfor Defendant

2
T:\ORDERS\C.17.322753.1 (JESSICA VITALE) ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO STRIKE THE LANGUAGE HOWEVER

Shelby Lo Executive Assistant
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the _____ day of November 2019, that I 

electronically filed the foregoing Motion with the Clerk of the Court by using the 

electronic filing system.  

The following participants in this case are registered electronic filing system 

users and will be served electronically:  

 

Michael Giles – District Attorney  
michael.giles@clarkcountyda.com 

200 Lewis Avenue 
Third Floor 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
 

                                ___________________________ 

                                Chris Barden, an employee 

                                of Pariente Law Firm, P.C.   
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Chris Barden
19th



Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
11/25/2019 2:54 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MOT 
THE PARIENTE LAW FIRM, P.C.                                              
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 615 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
(702) 966-5310 
Attorneys for Defendant 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 
 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
STATE OF NEVADA, 

 Plaintiff, 

 vs. 

JACK BANKA,  

 Defendant 

  
 
 
Case No: C-18-333254-1 
Dept No: 5 
 

 
 

 
 

REPLY TO STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S AMENDED MOTION 
TO WITHDRAW PREVIOUSLY ENTERED PLEA OF GUILTY 

 
COMES NOW Defendant, JACK BANKA, through his attorney, MICHAEL D. 

PARIENTE, ESQUIRE., with JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQUIRE., Of Counsel, and 

Replies to the State’s Opposition.  

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

 
_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
12/2/2019 2:38 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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I 
 

LAW AND ARGUMENT 

A. 

JACK BANKA’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW THE PLEA SHOULD BE GRANTED 
ON THE GROUNDS THAT JACK DID NOT UNDERSTAND THE NATURE OF 

THE CHARGE i.e. THE ELEMENTS OF THE OFFENSE AND THE 
CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEA, THE LACK OF MOTIONS BY JACK’S 

PREVIOUS COUNSEL AND JACK’S VALID DEFENSES TO THE DUI 
CHARGE 

 
a. This Court has vast discretion to withdraw a plea of guilty.1 

 

ADDRESSING THE STATE’S OPPOSITION: 

1. The State’s “Statement of the Case” is disingenuous. 

A Statement of the Case is limited to a description of the course of the court 

proceedings. But, the State did more than this. Under the disguise of the “Statement of 

the Case,” the State added a statement of facts telling this Court that Jack is guilty of 

the DUI. The State knows full well (or should) that guilt or innocence plays no role in 

determining whether to allow the withdrawal of a plea. See again, State v. District 

Court.2 (“The question of a defendant’s guilt or innocence is not an issue on a motion . . 

.  for leave to withdraw a plea of guilty . . . .”) Id., 85 Nev. at 385. (italics original.) 

(cites omitted.) This Court should strike the State’s improper inclusion of irrelevant 

facts.  

2. The State’s assertion that Attorney Boley waived “any” defect regarding 
the DUI allegation is flat-out false. 

 

 

1. Jack has provided case law for this Court’s “vast discretion” in its Amended Motion.   

 

2. 85 Nev. 381, 455 P.2d 923 (1969).  
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Attorney Boley’s waiver of “any” defects went solely to this Court’s striking Court 2, 

Leaving the Scene. The Plea Transcript (June 24, 2019) exposes the State’s false 

statement.3  

MS. LAVELL: And, Judge, the State amended the amended 

information by interlineation. 

THE COURT: Okay. The leaving the scene? 

MS. LAVELL: Yes, Your Honor. 

MR. BOLEY: And that’s struck by interlineation? 

MS. LAVELL: Yes. 

MR. BOLEY: We’ll waive any defects assuming the plea goes 

through today. 

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Thank you. 

MS. LAVELL: Thank you. 

THE COURT: And so do you want me to conform the 

H.T., p.3, ls. 14-25. (emphasis added.) 

attachment Exhibit 1 by striking— 

MS. LAVELL: Yes, please. 

THE COURT: -- the language— 

MS. LAVELL: If you would. 

THE COURT: -- on the first page, line 24 of the amended? 

Or actually it starts on line 23.  

H.T., p.4, ls. 1-6. 

 

3. A copy of the entire Plea Transcript is provided herein marked as Exhibit A.   
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There was no waiver as to Count 1! 

3. Footnote 2 of the State’s “Statement of the Case” is false:  
 

Footnote 2 reads, “[a] copy of the original six page Motion to Withdraw Plea, filed on 

November 15, 2019, and based on a single articulated issue, is attached hereto as 

Exhibit 2.” (emphasis added.) Jack’s original Motion was not limited to a “single 

articulated issue.” See, fn. 8 of Jack’s original Motion. Jack raised this Court’s failure 

to advise him that he must be fined $2,000 and the ineffective assistance of Jack’s prior 

attorney.  

4. Jack did not know the elements of NRS 484C.430:4 
 

A plea entered knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily is not a bar to a motion to 

withdraw a plea. See, Stevenson v. State.5 However, a plea entered without knowledge 

of all the elements of the offense requires that the plea be allowed to be withdrawn. See 

again, Boykin v. Alabama6 ; McCarthy v. United States7 ; State v. Freeze8 ; Love v. 

State9 and Higby v. State10, each of these cases were provided in Jack’s “Amended 

Motion to Withdraw Previously Entered Plea of Guilty”. Jack had no knowledge that 

“on or off the highways” was an element of NRS 484C.430 violation.  

 

4. The State had no legal basis to use NRS 484C.110 to charge Jack with a NRS 484C.430 violation.  

  

5. 131 Nev. 598, 603, 354 P.3d 1277 (2015).   

 

6. 395 U.S. 238 (1969).  

 

7. 394 U.S. 459, 466 (1969). 

   

8. 116 Nev. 1097, 13 P.3d 442 (2000).   

 

9. 99 Nev. 147, 147, 659 P.2d 876 (1983).  

 

10. 86 Nev. 774, 476 P.2d 959 (1970).  

RA 000202



 

   

5 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

P
A

R
IE

N
T

E
 L

A
W

 F
IR

M
. 

P
.C

. 
39

60
 H

ow
ar

d 
Hu

gh
es

 P
kw

y.
, S

ui
te

 6
15

 
La

s V
eg

as
, N

V 
89

16
9 

PH
O

N
E:

  (
70

2)
 9

66
-5

31
0 

 |
  F

AX
:  

(7
02

) 9
53

-7
05

5 
W

W
W

.PA
RI

EN
TE

LA
W

.CO
M

 

 
The State’s assertion and unfounded reliance that Jack’s plea was “freely and 

voluntarily” entered is a non-issue. The relevant issue before this Court is whether 

Jack knew at the time he entered his plea that “on or off the highways” was an element 

of NRS 484C.430. The answer is a resounding, No. Jack was never told, informed or 

explained that the correct element of a NRS 484C.430 violation was “on or off the 

highways” and not “highway or premises to which the public has access.” The State 

admitted that Jack was improperly charged! The two elements came from different 

statutes and have different meanings. This was also admitted by the State.  

The State’s reliance on the GPA lacks merit. There is nothing in the GPA which 

informs Jack that “on or off the highways” is the element which he must defend. 

Exhibit A of the GPA, the Amended Information, alleges “highway or premises to 

which the public has access” the element of NRS 484C.110 (misdemeanor enhancement 

statute). Jack was also required to execute an Admonishment of Rights at the time he 

entered his plea. See a copy attached hereto marked as Exbibit B. The Admonishment 

indicates that Jack was being charged with a violation of NRS 484.379 [now NRS 

484C.110]. There is absolutely no mention of NRS 484C.430! The Admonishment states 

that the felony of NRS 484.379 requires one to six years incarceration. The 

Admonishment is totally confusing.  

The State’s reliance that Jack graduated from Cooley Law School is misguided. 

How is Jack to know the correct elements of NRS 484C.430 when this Court, Justice 

Court, two prosecutors and a defense attorney DID NOT KNOW! Again, the State had 

no legal basis to use or rely upon NRS 484C.110 to charge Jack.  
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Since Jack did not know that “on or off the highways” and not “highway or premises 

to which the public has access” was the element of NRS 484C.430 filed against him, 

Jack’s Motion to withdraw the plea should be granted.  

The State’s reliance on “notice-pleading” that it need not include the elements of the 

offense in the Amended Information but rather “. . . only the facts of the charge 

must be included, in reference to the NRS version of the laws was sufficient” 

is flat-out wrong and contrary to the law.11 State’s Opposition (S.O.), p. 11, ls.6-7. 

(emphasis added.) The Court in State v. Hancock12 stated, “[a]n indictment, standing 

alone, must contain: (1) each and every element of the crime charged and (2) 

the facts showing how the defendant allegedly committed each element of the crime 

charged,” citing United States v. Hooker.13 Id., 114 Nev. at 164 (emphasis added.) 

Hancock and Hooker has been cited most recently with approval that the charging 

document must contain “each and every element of the crime charged.” See, State v. 

Salgado.14  

 

11. The State’s so called “notice-pleading” argument violates not only basic notions of Due Process, 

it also violates NRS 173.075(1). “Notice-pleading” is generally recognized as a civil standard and 

has no application in Nevada’s criminal cases. See, Simpson v. District Court, 88 Nev. 554, 503 P.3d 

1225 (1972)(The Court noted that NRS 173.075(1) replaced “notice-pleading.”) 88 Nev. at 656-657. 

NRS 173.075(1) requires a “plain, concise and definite” written statement of the charge[s] against 

the accused. (italics added.) However, whether this Court continues to adopt the State’s misplaced 

“notice-pleading” argument is not a reason or factor to deny Jack’s request to withdraw his plea. See 
again, Stevenson v. State, supra. (“We therefore disavow Crawford’s exclusive focus on the validity 

of the plea . . . .”) 131 Nev. at 603.  

 

12. 114 Nev. 161, 955 P.2d 183 (1998).  

 

13. 841 F.2d 1225, 1230 (4
th

 Cir. 1988).  

  

14. 2019 WL 989863 (C.O.A. No. 75287/75288)(Feb. 26 2019.) 
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The State’s cite to Sanders v. Sheriff15 supports Jack. Sanders stated, “ . . . the 

complaint is intended solely to put the defendant on formal written notice of the charge 

he must defend . . .  and may simply be drawn in the words of the statute so long as 

the essential elements of the crime are stated.” Id., 85 Nev. at 181-182. (emphasis 

added.) The State’s claim that the Amended Information need not set forth the 

elements of the offense being charged lacks merit.  

The State’s reliance that it only needs to cite the statute of the crime being charged 

lacks merit.16 The Court in Hooker, cited in Hancock, held, 

Wong-Tai contains no language which would impart validity to an 
indictment which omits an allegation of an element of a crime 
charged nor does it suggest at any time in the opinion that a mere 
citation of the statute under which the indictment issues will 
satisfy the requirement that the indictment contain a clear 
statement of the elements of the offense charged. 
 

Id., 841 F.2d at 1229-1230.  

It should be quite apparent that without knowledge of the elements of the offense, the 

State’s factual allegations are meaningless.  

5. Jack did not understand the consequences of the plea.  
 

A conviction of NRS 484C.430 requires “a fine of not less that $2,000 nor more than 

$5,000.” The Banka GPA indicated that the Court may but is not required to impose a 

fine. This Court in correcting the language of the GPA led Jack to believe that he could 

receive much less than $2,000.  

 

15. 85 Nev. 179, 451 P.2d 718 (1969).   

 

16. Here, two statutes were cited. Which one controlled?  
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THE COURT: -- the sentence that I impose? And also I have to fine 

you. It’s a requirement. I have to fine you up to – actually, it says 

may here. I thought it was mandatory. 

MR. GILES: It’s mandatory, Your Honor. It is— 

THE COURT: A mandatory fine of up to five thousand? 

MR. GILES: Yes.  

THE COURT: Okay. So—and it says I may also be fined, 

H.T., p. 4, ls. 19-25. 

but you understand that it’s a mandatory fine? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: I could – because of the language of up to five 

thousand, I could do something much less that that 

obviously, but I have to fine him – impose a fine. Okay.  

H.T. p. 5, ls. 1-5. (emphasis added.)  

The Court’s information was contrary to law. Jack was never told that he must be fined 

at least $2,000! Therefore, Jack did not understand the consequences of his plea.  

 It is constitutionally required that a plea of guilty be knowingly, intelligently 

and voluntarily entered. See again, Boykin v. Alabama. A guilty plea is knowing and 

voluntary only if the defendant “has a full understanding of both the nature of the 

charges and the direct consequences arising from the plea.” Rubio v. State17, 124 Nev. 

at 1038. (italics original.) The Court in Hudson v. Warden18 noted, “[a] court has an 

 

17. 124 Nev. 1032, 194 P.3d 1224 (2008).   

 

18. 117 Nev. 387, 22 P.3d 1154 (2001).   
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obligation to determine that a defendant understands the nature of the offense and the 

consequences at the time of the entry of the plea.” Id., 117 Nev. at 400.  

6. Jack has listed at least four (4) Motions which should have been filed.19  
 
a. Armstrong. 

 
An Armstrong motion is applicable to the impairment and per se theories and 

should have been filed by Jack’s previous counsel.  

b. PBT. 

Jack denies that he gave consent for the PBT. Jack was told by the police officer 

that if he refuses to submit to the PBT, then his drivers license would be revoked for 

one (1) year. Jack’s submittal to the PBT is not consent but rather was coerced. 

Eliminating the PBT creates a legitimate challenge to the officer’s probable cause.  

c. Challenging conclusory pleadings.  

The State’s Opposition lacks merit. The State does not dispute the merits of such 

a motion, only that it results in the State amending the Information. What the State 

ignores is that a non-conclusory pleading provides the defendant with a statement of 

facts so the defendant can defend against these elements as well as preventing the 

State from changing its prosecution theories at trial. In Vitale this Court held that the 

due care allegation was conclusory! 

d. “However slight” language. 

 

19. This Court and the prosecutor know that Jack was not satisfied with the representation of his 

prior counsel. Jack believed that some motions should be filed but were not. This is one of the 

reasons Jack wanted new counsel.  
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The “however slight” language is misleading and not the law. A jury can be 

“fooled” or misled to believe that only slight impairment is needed to convict. Jack was 

also misled by the “however slight” language.  

Jack’s prior counsel should have filed at a minimum the Motions listed by Jack. 

Therefore, it is “fair” and “just” to allow Jack to withdraw his plea, file the appropriate 

Motions and have a jury decide his case.  

The State argues that valid defenses does not invalidate Jack’s plea. This misses 

the point. The issue here is not invalidating the plea but rather presenting reasons 

why Jack’s withdrawal Motion should be granted under the standard of “fair and just.”  

The State admits that Jack could have consumed alcohol after the accident 

which would allow him to pursue the affirmative defense under 484C.430(3). However, 

his prior counsel never filed a motion of intent on this issue.  

7. Jack has an extremely viable defense to the State’s two-hour 
prosecution theory.  
 

The prosecution under NRS 484C.430(c) requires that there be a breath or blood 

test. A suppression of the breath or blood test eliminates the two-hour prosecution. 

Jack’s blood test should have been suppressed.  

The implied consent law in effect at the time of Jack’s arrest allowed a choice of 

breath or blood testing. NRS 484C.160(5)(a) states in pertinent part, “[i]f the 

concentration of alcohol in the blood or breath is an issue: (a) Except as otherwise 

provided in this section, the person may refuse to submit to a blood test if the 

means are reasonably available to perform a breath test.”20 (emphasis added.) 

 

20. None of the exceptions listed in NRS 484C.160 apply in Jack’s case.  
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The police report indicates that Jack was not offered a breath test. This is a classic 

example of a lack of SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE!  Suppression is the remedy. See, 

NRS 484C.240(2).  

The State’s cite to Ebarb v. State, Dep’t of Mtr. Vehicles21 is not only inapposite but 

inappropriate. Ebarb’s holding is no longer controlling in light of the implied consent 

law which was amended in 2015 and the legal authority of Missouri v. McNeely22 and 

Byars v. State23. 

The State’s assertion that the choice that breath or blood testing “only applies” to 

first and second offenses and not felonies” is FLAT-OUT WRONG! See, NRS 

484C.160(1)(b) which specifically refers to NRS 484C.430. The officer’s failure to allow 

Jack to submit to breath testing requires suppression of the reported blood alcohol 

reading. See again, NRS 484C.240(2).  

Merely retesting the blood falls way short of requesting “full information” of the 

testing as allowed by NRS 484C.240(3). This Court is aware of the “full information” 

request made in the Vitale case.  

CONCLUSION 

 The charge filed against Jack Banka is serious requiring a mandatory prison 

sentence.24 As evidence of the seriousness, this Court has indicated that it would 

 

21. 107 Nev. 985, 822 P.2d 1120 (1991).   

 

22. 569 U.S. 141 (2013).   

 

23. 130 Nev. 848, 336 P.3d 939 (2014).  

 

24. Jack was charged with violating three prosecution theories: (1) impairment, (2) per se and (3) the 

two-hour rule. However, at the P.H. when this Court inquired what the prosecution would prove at 

trial, the State relied solely on the two-hour theory. Therefore, it was error for this Court to find Jack 
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sentence Jack to four (4) years in the Nevada State Prison. Jack should be entitled to 

defend against the serious charge before a jury. A plea of guilty is not designed to 

foreclose a defendant’s right to have a trial. This Court has vast discretion to withdraw 

a plea of guilty and should exercise that discretion is Jack’s case. Therefore, Jack 

Banka’s Motion to Withdraw the plea should be granted on the grounds that Jack did 

not understand the nature of the charge i.e. the elements of the offense, the 

consequence of the plea,  the lack of Motions filed by his previous defense counsel and 

his valid defenses to the DUI charge. 

DATED this ____ day of ____________, 2019. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

_____________________________ 
MICHAEL D. PARIENTE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.: 9469 
JOHN G. WATKINS, ESQ., OF COUNSEL 

 

JACK BANKA’S DECLARATION IN SUPPORT HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS 
PLEA OF GUILTY 

 

I, Jack Banka, the defendant/declarant herein, states as follows: 

1. I am A Certified Public Accountant and own my accounting firm. 

2. I graduated from Cooley Law School in 2005 but have never practiced law. I am not 

a licensed attorney and have never been so.  

3. I do not know Nevada DUI law and relied solely on my prior counsel, Thomas Boley 

to represent me. As time passed I believe that Mr. Boley was not effectively 

representing me and I intended to change counsel. I wanted John Watkins, Esquire 

(having heard that Mr. Watkins was highly skilled in DUI cases) and Michael 

 

guilty of impairment and the per se theories. 
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Pariente, Esquire to represent me.  

4. That prior to entering my plea, I believe that the Court “may” but was not required to 

impose a fine based on the language set forth in the GPA. However, at the plea 

hearing, the Judge said a fine was mandatory. I was led to believe that the fine could 

be a minimal amount up to $5,000. I was never told that the fine had to be at least 

$2,000, a large amount. The fact that I was led to believe that the fine could be 

minimal was a factor in entering my plea.  

5. I never knew or was told by anyone that the allegation of “highway or premises to 

which the public has access” in the Amended Information was not the correct 

element for an NRS 484C.430 offense. I had no knowledge that the correct element 

was “on or off the highways.” 

6. I was required to execute what was labeled “DUI ADMONISHMENT OF RIGHTS”. 

The document totally confused me. It stated that I was being charged with the 

violation of NRS 484.379. I had no idea what that referred to. There was no mention 

of NRS 484C.430. I could not understand why I was being charged with having 

committed prior DUI’s when in fact there were none. I was afraid to say anything 

because every time I spoke, things got worse for me.  

7. I believe the Amended Informations reference to “however slight” meant that any 

degree of alcohol influence established guilt. My understanding of the “however 

slight” language was a factor in my entering the plea.   

8. That after a conversation with Mr. Pariente and Mr. Watkins, I realized that a number 

of legal Motions should have been filed on my behalf by Attorney Boley. Some of 

these Motions have been listed in my Motion to Withdraw the Plea and the Reply 

herein.  
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9. If I had known that I had to be fined at least $2,000, that “however slight” was not 

the law and that the Amended Information did not set forth the correct element, I 

would not have pled guilty.  

10. That I still maintain that I did not cause the accident. I was traveling straight and had 

the right-of-way when the other vehicle proceeded to cross the roadway that I was 

proceeding on. I told this Court initially this fact whereon the Court would not accept 

my initial plea. Only after the State agreed to an Alford plea did this Court accept my 

plea.  

YOUR DECLARANT SAYETH NOTHING FURTHER 

I declare under the penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on this ____ Day of ___________, 2019. 

      __________________________ 

            Jack Banka 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2nd December
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Exhibit A 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
                             
                        Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
JACK BANKA, 
                            
                        Defendant. 

 
 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 

 
 
  CASE NO.  C-18-333254-1 
 
  DEPT.  NO.  V 
 
   

BEFORE THE HONORABLE CAROLYN ELLSWORTH, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

MONDAY, JUNE 24, 2019 

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING: 

ENTRY OF PLEA 

APPEARANCES: 

  For the State:    MARIA LAVELL, ESQ., 
      Chief Deputy District Attorney 
      MICHAEL G. GILES, ESQ., 
      Deputy District Attorney 
 
 
  For the Defendant:   THOMAS D. BOLEY, ESQ., 
 
 
 
RECORDED BY:  LARA CORCORAN, COURT RECORDER 

Case Number: C-18-333254-1

Electronically Filed
8/1/2019 11:14 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Las Vegas, Nevada; Monday, June 24, 2019 

[Hearing commenced at 9:05 a.m.] 

 

  THE COURT:  And that is C333254, State of Nevada versus 

Jack Banka.  Good morning. 

  MR. BOLEY:  Good morning. 

  MS. LAVELL:  Good morning, Your Honor. 

  MR. BOLEY:  Good morning, Judge. 

[Colloquy between counsel] 

  MS. LAVELL:  Your Honor, may I approach to file the 

amended information? 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MS. LAVELL:  The second amended. 

  THE COURT:  So I have in my hand a guilty plea agreement.  

Before we get to that, there were -- there was -- after I -- after court last 

Wednesday a substitution was filed improperly.  A substitution of 

FRXQVHO WKDW¶V ordered VWUXFN IURP WKH GRFNHW µFDXVH I GHQLHG WKDW 

PRWLRQ.  AQG, RI FRXUVH, WKHQ I¶P TXLWH aware of everything that 

happened while I was at my conference.  Okay. 

  MR. BOLE<:  <HV, PD¶DP.  AQG ZH DSRORJL]H IRU DQ\ 

convenience -- inconvenience that that caused. 

  THE COURT:  IW GLGQ¶W.  IW GLGQ¶W FDXVH PH DQ\ LQFRQYHQLHQFH.  

I JXHVV P\ VWDII ZDV VFUDPEOLQJ DURXQG IRU D OLWWOH ELW, EXW WKDW¶V ILQH.  

TKH\¶UH XVHG WR WKDW. 

  All right.  So tell me what the negotiations are? 
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  MR. BOLEY:  Yes, Your Honor.  This is going to be a guilty 

plea by way of the Alford decision -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. BOLEY:  -- to Count 1, DUI with substantial bodily harm.  

DLVPLVV UHPDLQLQJ FRXQWV.  :H¶UH JRLQJ WR VWLSXODWH WR D VHQWHQFH RI IRXU 

to ten years in the Department of Corrections. 

  MS. LA9ELL:  7KDW¶V FRUUHFW, <RXU HRQRU. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  And is that your understanding of the 

negotiations, Mr. Banka? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, this guilty plea agreement does in 

fact say that, but let me address first this -- this idea of both parties 

stipulating to the sentence, so obviously -- 

[Colloquy between the Court and the Clerk] 

  MS. LAVELL:  And, Judge, the State amended the amended 

information by interlineation.  CRXQW 2 ZDVQ¶W VWUXFN IURP WKDW. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  The leaving the scene? 

  MS. LAVELL:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  MR. BOLE<:  AQG WKDW¶V VWUXFN E\ interlineation? 

  MS. LAVELL:  Yes. 

  MR. BOLE<:  :H¶OO ZDLYH DQ\ GHIHFWV DVVXPLQJ WKH SOHD JRHV 

through today. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you. 

  MS. LAVELL:  Thank you. 

  THE COURT:  And so do you want me to conform the 
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attachment Exhibit 1 by striking -- 

  MS. LAVELL:  Yes, please. 

  THE COURT:  -- the language -- 

  MS. LAVELL:  If you would. 

  THE COURT:  -- on the first page, line 24 of the amended?  

Or actually it starts on line 23. 

  All right.  So this -- the stipulated sentence, so you understand 

that this -- this guilty plea agreement is a contract between you and the 

State of Nevada and I¶P QRW a SaUW\ WR WKH FRQWUaFW? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And so I just have to sentence you within the 

OHJaO VHQWHQFLQJ SHULPHWHUV WKaW¶V VHW b\ WKH OHJLVOaWXUH IRU WKLV SaUWLFXOaU 

crime; you understand that? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And that -- that range is a minimum of two 

years and a maximum of twenty years, the minimum may not exceed 40 

percent of the maximum -- 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  -- the sentence that I impose?  And also I have 

WR ILQH \RX, LW¶V a UHTXLUHPHQW.  I have to fine you up to -- actually, it says 

may here.  I thought it was a mandatory. 

  MR. GILES:  IW¶V PaQGaWRU\, YRXU HRQRU. IW LV -- 

  THE COURT:  A mandatory fine of up to five thousand? 

  MR. GILES:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So -- and it says I may also be fined, 
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bXW \RX XQdHUVWaQd WKaW LW¶V a PaQdaWRU\ ILQH? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  I could -- because of the language of up to five 

thousand, I could do something much less than that obviously, but I 

have to fine him -- impose a fine.  Okay. 

  And you also understand that -- you understand that I have to 

impose restitution obviously if there are damages that are outstanding in 

order to make the victim whole and this -- 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  -- is required by statute and now a 

constitutional amendment; you understand that? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  DR \RX aOVR XQdHUVWaQd \RX¶UH QRW HOLJLbOH IRU 

probation on this particular charge -- 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  -- IRU ZKLcK \RX¶UH HQWHULQJ WKH SOHa?  AOO ULght. 

  So, attached as Exhibit 1 is the second amended information 

charging you in fact with driving and/or being in actual physical control of 

a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicating liquor or 

alcohol resulting in substantial bodily harm, category B felony; did you 

read Exhibit 1? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And to that charge, how do you plead? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Guilty. 

  THE COURT:  By way of the Alford decision? 
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  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So leW¶V UHYLHZ ZKaW WKaW PHaQV aQd 

VHH WKaW \RX¶UH XQdHUVWaQdLQJ that it is the same as mine and the law, 

RNa\.  AQd VR baVLcaOO\ WKaW PHaQV WKaW \RX¶UH aJUHHLQJ WR SOHad JXLOW\ WR 

WKLV cKaUJH, bXW \RX¶UH QRW adPLWWLQJ \RXU JXLOW aQd \RX¶UH dRLQJ WKaW 

pursuant to this, you know, a case that is the Alford decision, Alford 

versus North Carolina.  AQd WKH UHaVRQ IRU WKaW LV \RX dRQ¶W ZaQW WR SXW 

yourself at risk for being convicted on the original charges and facing a 

harsher penalty that might be required or given than you would by 

entering this plea; is that your understanding as well? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, it is. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  If the State went to trial, what would it 

prove? 

  MR. GILES:  Your Honor, if we had gone to trial, the State 

would have proven that on December 1st, 2016, the Defendant was 

driving a Mercedes Benz on Anthem Parkway at Atchley Drive and he 

turned left in front of oncoming traffic failing to surrender the roadway to 

those with the right of way causing a two-car crash involving an elderly 

couple, Maxine and Martin Luber. 

  In the crash, Ms. -- Ms. Luber suffered ten broken ribs, a 

fractured sternum and several other injuries including a large laceration, 

abrasion to her leg which required substantial medical care and recovery 

time.  Mr. Luber suffered injuries that were not substantial, but were 

fairly graded in and of themselves.  The Defendant then drove away 

from the scene.  He was later caught. 
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  And the State would further prove that within two hours of the 

driving behavior, his blood was drawn and when it was tested, it came 

back at .193 BAC approximately two and half times the legal limit. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So before I can accept your 

SOHD, I KDYH WR NQRZ WKDW LW¶V IUHHO\ DQG YROXQWDULO\ PDGH DQG WKDW you 

XQGHUVWDQG WKH QDWXUH DQG FRQVHTXHQFHV.  :H¶YH DOUHDG\ WDONHG DERXW 

the nature and consequences of the plea and you understand that 

sentencing is strictly up to the Court, no other person; correct? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And, of course, I will make my sentencing 

decision based upon a pre-sentence investigation report that will be 

SUHSDUHG E\ WKH DLYLVLRQ RI 3DUROH DQG 3UREDWLRQ.  AOVR I¶OO FRQVLGHU DQ\ 

materials, anything that you and through your lawyer wish to submit for 

WKH CRXUW¶V FRQsideration as well as anything that you wish to say at time 

RI VHQWHQFLQJ DQG I¶OO OLNHZLVH KHDU DUJXPHQWV IURP \RXU ODZ\HU; GR \RX 

understand that? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  I mean WKDW¶V REYLRXVO\ ZLWKLQ WKH SHULPHWHUV RI 

what you agreed to in the stipulation and that is a sentence of four to ten 

years; correct? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, has anyone forced or coerced you 

into entering your plea? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  No. 

  THE COURT:  Has -- am I ever going to hear from you that 
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somehow because of all -- everything that occurred before this plea was 

entered, WKDW QRZ \RX UHDOO\ GLGQ¶W ZDQW WR HQWHU WKH SOHD DQG \RX¶UH 

being forced and you want to go to trial? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  No. 

  THE COURT:  AUH \RX VXUH EHFDXVH I GRQ¶W ZDQW to see that 

later in some kind of petition that I forced you into this because obviously 

you can go to trial this afternoon? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  I made a mistake on -- on Wednesday 

and I just -- it feels like every time I open my mouth I get worse and 

worse, so I just -- I GRQ¶W -- I -- 

  THE COURT:  SR \RX GRQ¶W -- VR \RX IHHO OLNH \RX¶UH EHLQJ 

forced today? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  No. 

  THE COURT:  I GRQ¶W ZDQW WR FRHUFH \RX LQWR DQ\WKLQJ. 

  THE DEFENDANT:  No. 

  THE COURT:  How about promises; has anyone made you 

any promise in order to induce you to plead guilty today, something I 

GRQ¶W NQRZ DQ\WKLQJ DERXW, LW¶V QRW LQ WKLV JXLOW\ SOHD DJUHHPHQW? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  No. 

  THE COURT:  YRX XQGHUVWDQG WKDW \RX¶UH ZDLYLQJ YHU\ 

valuable constitutional rights by entering into this guilty plea agreement? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  YRX XQGHUVWDQG \RX¶UH ZDLYLQJ \RXU ULJKW WR D 

jury trial? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 
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  THE COURT:  AQG \RX XQGHUVWaQG \RX¶UH ZaLYLQJ \RXU ULJKW 

to confront the witnesses against you and have your lawyer cross 

examine those witnesses at trial? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  DR \RX XQGHUVWaQG \RX¶UH JLYLQJ XS \RXU 

opportunity to present any evidence you might wish to at such a trial, 

aOWKRXJK RI FRXUVH \RX GRQ¶W KaYH WR SURYH aQ\WKLQJ, WKH State bears the 

burden of proof, they have to prove their doubt -- WKaW \RX¶UH JXLOW\ 

beyond a reasonable doubt as each and every element of the crime and 

\RX GRQ¶W KaYH WR FaOO a VLQJOH ZLWQHVV RU SUHVHQW aQ\ HYLGHQFH, bXW RI 

course if you wanted to, you mRVW FHUWaLQO\ FRXOG, bXW bHFaXVH \RX¶UH 

not going to have a trial, you give up that opportunity to do so; do you 

understand everything I just told you? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  DR \RX XQGHUVWaQG aOVR \RX¶UH JLYLQJ XS \RXU 

opportunity to testify aW VXFK aW a WULaO, aOWKRXJK aJaLQ, \RX GRQ¶W KaYH WR 

testify, you in fact are guaranteed by the United States constitution as 

ZHOO aV WKH NHYaGa¶V FRQVWLWXWLRQ WKH ULJKW QRW WR WHVWLI\ aW a WULaO aJaLQVW 

you and if you decided to invoke that right and not waive it, then I would 

not permit the State to use that against you in any way; do you 

understand that? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Now in the normal course of a trial, if you were 

to go forward to -- to a trial, what would happen would be just after the 

SWaWH UHVWHG \RX¶G KaYH WKH RSSRUWXQLW\ WR WaON ZLWK \RXU OaZ\HU aQG 

RA 000222



 

10 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

weigh the pros and cons of whether or not you wanted to testify or not 

and then make that informed decision on the advice of counsel and if 

you decided to waive your right and take the stand, you would.  Or you 

could invoke your right and I would -- if your lawyer requested an 

LQVWUXFWLRQ, I ZRXOG LQVWUXFW WKH MXU\ WKaW WKH\ FRXOGQ¶W XVH WKaW aJaLQVW 

you in any way or discuss it in their deliberations; do you understand 

that? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Do you understand that you are waiving your 

right to a direct appeal in this matter? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  And has your lawyer explained to you what that 

means? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Are you under the influence of any 

alcohol or illicit drugs? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  No. 

  THE COURT:  How about any medications?  Are you taking 

any medications? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Just for cholesterol and blood pressure. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  And those medications help you feel 

better? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  I hope. 

  THE COURT:  So you feel okay today? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 
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  THE COURT:  How about did you get enough sleep last night 

VR \RX NQRZ ZKaW \RX¶UH dRLQJ WRda\? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  I¶P VXUH \RX may have been a bit nervous. 

  THE DEFENDANT:  I tossed and turned a little bit. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Yeah.  I toss and turn as well, but I still 

NQRZ ZKaW¶V JRLQJ RQ WKLV PRUQLQJ aQd \RX OLNHZLVH? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Very good.  Any other questions you 

have of the Court at all in this matter? 

  THE DEFENDANT:  No. 

  THE COURT:  It appearing that he does understand the 

QaWXUH aQd cRQVHTXHQcHV RI KLV SOHa WKaW¶V IUHHO\ aQd YROXQWaULO\ PadH, 

I¶OO accHSW KLV SOHa RI JXLOW\ LQ WKLV PaWWer.  Refer it to the Division of 

Parole and Probation for the pre-sentence investigation report.  Set it 

dRZQ IRU VHQWHQcLQJ.  WH¶OO YacaWH WKH WULaO WKaW ZaV VHW WR cRPPHQcH 

this afternoon. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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  THE CLERK:  October 23rd, 9 am. 

  THE COURT:  Thank you. 

  MR. BOLEY:  Thank you, Judge. 

[Hearing concluded at 9:18 a.m.] 

 

 

 

 

 

* * * * * * 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed 
the audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my 
ability.   
 
 
 
      _____________________________ 
      Michelle Ramsey 
      Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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JD Reporting, Inc.

C-18-333254-1 | State v. Banka | 2020-02-24

LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA, FEBRUARY 24, 2020, 9:34 A.M.  

* * * * * 

THE COURT:  Case Number C333254 State of Nevada

versus Jack Banka.

MR. WATKINS:  Good morning, Your Honor.  May it

please, Your Honorable Court, John Watkins.  Mr. Pariente's

here, Michael has the flu.  So with your permission I'll be

arguing.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, Mr. Watkins, I've got only 10

minutes I think with you this morning because I have trial --

MR. WATKINS:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- and so -- and it's a huge calendar --

MR. WATKINS:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- so I'm just -- if you need more time

than that then we can reset for a different time.  I just

wanted you to know because you do usually take some time and

that's fine.  I'm just telling you I don't have a lot of time

this morning so if you need more than 10 minutes, let's go talk

about it.

MR. WATKINS:  I think we should pass it a couple of

days?

THE COURT:  Couple of days, no.

MR. WATKINS:  No, when can we argue?

THE COURT:  When we're out of our trial.

Staff?
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THE CLERK:  We're looking at either --

MR. WATKINS:  I'll just do it this morning.

THE COURT:  Okay.  It's with -- I'm in the middle of

a trial.

MR. WATKINS:  I appreciate that you're giving me the

opportunity, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. WATKINS:  But Jack's in custody here and he's got

his family.

Where's the family?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  In the back row over there.

THE COURT:  Sure.  All right.  So I have read all of

the pleadings.  So there are many, but there's the motion for

bail pending appeal is -- I've read that.  I've read the

State's opposition.  I've read the reply to the opposition.  I

have read the supplemental points and authorities regarding the

motion for bail pending appeal.

I've also read the State's opposition to the

supplemental points and authorities.  I have also read the

amended reply to the State's opposition.  I read the reply and

then I read the amended reply, but the amended took the place

in -- of the reply.  So I've read all of that.

MR. WATKINS:  Okay.  With that, Your Honor, I'd like

to, you know, just potentially just summarize, but right now I

need to point something that's important to the Court.  On our
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amended we made a heading here, preliminary remarks.  If you

remember, the prosecution indicated that not only was the older

lady injured in the case, but the male who was 86 had five

broken ribs.

I spoke with Jack, and he asked me to check into that

scenario.  I in fact did check into that scenario and that is

incorrect.  That gentlemen did not suffer any broken ribs at

all, okay, and he went to the hospital, was just checked out

and released immediately and -- but there was no pain killers

or anything given to him.  I made copies of the pertinent

section of the grand jury transcript where he testified if

you'd like to see that?

THE COURT:  I've already looked at that and I -- so

I'm aware.  My understanding was it was the female that was in

the other car who suffered the more serious injuries.

MR. WATKINS:  Yes.  The gentleman didn't suffer any

injuries, but -- but the State represented to you in our

argument and obviously that has an impact I believe, you know,

versus, you know, he really wasn't injured or five broken ribs.

Also so I wanted to make sure that you understood that, you

know.  

And also you must have been given some erroneous

information at the time of the plea because you were of the

impression that Jack was again facing two counts of felony DUI

substantial bodily injury.  He had at no time ever faced two

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

RA 000233



5

JD Reporting, Inc.

C-18-333254-1 | State v. Banka | 2020-02-24

counts; he only faced the one count.  And apparently when you

accepted the plea you were of the impression that he had two,

and he was getting a real break here because he was only going

to be pleading to one.  And I want you to know that that's

incorrect and I -- somehow you got erroneous information; I

don't know how you got that, but I do have --

THE COURT:  At the time of the entry of the plea?

MR. WATKINS:  Yes, Your Honor, and I actually have --

and it's on page 14.  And what it said -- and I believe, Judge,

strike that it was on the motion to withdraw the plea is where

you indicated, if I may briefly, But we had a discussion and he

acknowledged that he understood.  He understood, excuse me,

what the Alford decision was and that that was that.  In fact,

he was going to not admit to his guilt, but he still wanted me

to accept his plea of guilty because he didn't want to run the

risk of being convicted of the original and more serious

charges, which of course included two counts of driving under

the influence with substantial bodily harm, so.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So what was the -- I can't

remember what the original charge was.

MR. GILES:  And my memory, Your Honor, is that it was

there were two victims named in the one count, but it's two

counts total one --

THE RECORDER:  Mr. Giles, can you move the mic,

please.
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THE COURT:  All right.  One was leaving the scene of

the accident --

MR. GILES:  One leaving the scene and one DUI

substantial, both of which have a 2 to 20 requirement.

MR. WATKINS:  Well, I'll finish on what I was

reading, and it says, as well as a felony, you know, fleeing

the scene, failure to stop which you know there was a lot of

evidence about that.  

So, you know, Your Honor, Jack did not injure this

other gentleman, okay.  And -- and there was not two DUIs, and

I think that's very important that you understand that because

it appears based on what you said you were under the

impression.  So I'm going to leave that with you.

Now, just briefly here there's really four issues to

be decided, okay.  One is our appeal, okay, frivolous or are

they for purpose of delay, is Jack a flight risk, or is he a

danger to the community; those are the four issues that I

believe are before the Court based upon the case law and the

statutory language, okay.  

And I -- I can't see for the life of me how you would

say that our appeals are frivolous, okay.  We have, you know,

our motion arrest of judgment which we believe there wasn't a

crime charged by the State.  There's no statute that's

prohibiting that kind of conduct.

Also, Your Honor, in addition to -- in addition to

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

RA 000235



7

JD Reporting, Inc.

C-18-333254-1 | State v. Banka | 2020-02-24

that there's no delay.  Mr. Pariente and I have been very

diligent with Jack in representing this case, and you know

that.  So there's no purpose of delay.  

So also, Jack is not a flight risk, and he's not a

danger to the community.  He was released since December

the 1st of 2016, on bail, and there was no conditions that --

the State didn't have any check in, you know, for anything.  

So, Judge, we're asking that you grant bail pending

appeal.  Jack has never had any problems at all.  This is the

only incident that he had.

Now, I did point out to you that's why you asked to

do the supplement, and the State admits the police reports are

incorrect about the accident, okay, the direction, and I

presented to you that it's important the arresting officer know

who was -- who caused the accident.

The State's argument was that it was conjecture or

scrivener error.  Well, conjecture has absolutely no place

here, and both reports were done by the police officer so

there's no error.  Bottom line there was a question as to who

was doing what, and I pointed that out.

The other issues that I pointed out for the Court

that you wanted to know dealing with the -- the field

sobrieties and some other inconsistencies.  Basically the State

said, well, the inconsistencies there was no room on the police

report for the officer to go ahead and put down really what
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happened so he put down what was on the form.  Well, I point

out then he's not giving, you know, correct information.

Just to summarize, Your Honor, again this is not a

frivolous appeal that we have.  And it's the two issues that,

you know, one is the withdrawal in the plea and the other one

is, you know, the motion arrest of judgment, and he's not a

flight risk, and he's clearly not a danger to the community

based upon the action by the Court.  And this Court actually,

you know, made it clear to the State you never asked for any of

this before, okay.  So we're asking the Court to at a minimum

grant bail pending appeal for Jack.

We also, you pointed out when I went through and I

made my argument that apparently weren't things, you know,

there was some additional information that you wanted to be put

in writing, and I put all that information in writing to you.

I won't go through it because of the time constraints.  You've

read it all; you know what's there.  And it's -- and you said

that, you know, you potentially could, you know, consider this

I guess in regards to some kind of reconsideration for him to

allow to withdraw the plea --

THE COURT:  Okay.  On Honeycutt I could even though

it was on appeal I could certify to the Supreme Court --

MR. WATKINS:  Yeah.

THE COURT:  -- if I so implied that I wanted to

change my mind --
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MR. WATKINS:  Yes.

THE COURT:  -- on a previous ruling and send such a

notice to the Supreme Court so that they could remand it back,

but, you know, that's what I was talking about --

MR. WATKINS:  I understand that --

THE COURT:  -- in other words --

MR. WATKINS:  -- and the State said you can't do it.

Well, we know that you can and that was the reason -- that was

the reason for the amended that I did because I've done my

research on that, and I wanted to point out the Dingwall

[phonetic] case, and you were aware of all of those I know.

So again, Your Honor, Jack has had absolutely no

problems with this legal system at all except for this

incident, and we're asking that at a minimum you grant bail

pending appeal.  We're going to ask that you reconsider and let

him allow -- let him to withdraw the plea in this case.

THE COURT:  Okay.  State.

MR. GILES:  And, Your Honor, to start from the top

Martin Luber [phonetic] told me himself in pretrials, we were

getting ready for trial that he had broken ribs.  What was said

at the prelim several years previously clearly is at odds; I

will accept Mr. Watkins's representation.  It doesn't matter

because Maxine had a crushed sternum, and she was named as a

victim in the SBH count and/or Martin Luber and then they're

both named in the fleeing the scene count where the substantial
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nature of the injuries isn't required, just injury.

And again, we've already dealt with the two counts

versus two victims.  I think that was just a language

transposition there that happened.

Just to remind everybody, basically what happened

last time we were here on the motion for bail.  At the very end

of it after I believe the Court had begun to make a ruling on

the issue, Mr. Watkins began talking about all the missing

evidence that was never dealt with, and the Court gave him an

opportunity to supplement the record.

Well, the essence of the supplementation is that the

police officer wrote a report where he properly noted the

directions of travel in the narrative section and then down in

the conclusory section transposed one of the directions of

travel.

That does not change what the firefighter said in his

sworn testimony and what he would say at trial as to the

direction of travel and who was at fault for the accident.  It

doesn't change what the physical evidence shows, which is that

the defendant was at fault for the accident, and he left the

scene, and he was chased down, and he appeared impaired.

And Mr. Watkins discussing the report and the fact

that the language on the checkmarked boxes is different than

the language used in the written narrative, that's a choice

Henderson PD made to use a form where they give officers a
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quick option to checkmark boxes.  It doesn't change the fact

that all the things noted showed signs of impairment, that they

went through their investigation before taking the defendant

down to test him evidentiary for alcohol in his system, and it

came back substantially above the legal limit within two hours.

And so the essence of the motion -- and I will

apologize about whether the Court had the ability to reconsider

the prior motion on appeal.  I talked to our appellate

division.  I've never done appellate work, and they all advised

me that, no, they felt that once it was up there that that

issue had moved up.  I understand the Court has the ability to

send something up to the Supreme Court saying I got it wrong

please send it back.

I don't think that that's necessary because in

essence what we're here today on is the question of

dangerousness.  I'm not going to weigh in; I didn't weigh in

before on the frivolous and for purposes of delay even if I

have an opinion, I believe the case law is pretty solid on that

issue.

But this case is about a DUI where an individual

drove, crashed into a car and then fled the scene.  DUIs are

not like other crimes.  We can't look at history and say well,

you've got all these little predicate crimes leading up to this

one big crime.  It's about one moment in time where a person

who has very likely done the same behavior again and again and
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again gets into that crash.

MR. WATKINS:  I'm going to have to object, Your

Honor.  There's absolutely no evidence that Jack has had any

similar problem and drives while drinking.  That's

inappropriate that just like five broken ribs --

THE COURT:  Well, he's not -- he didn't say that the

defendant.  He's just saying in general it's the type of crime

that people don't generally get, you know, their first DUI

isn't as a nature, you know, substantial bodily harm or death,

but it does happen.  I've seen it many times --

MR. WATKINS:  Sure you have.

THE COURT:  -- it is their only time that they were

arrested whether or not they weren't arrested before, you know,

we never know about those things.  It's just like any other

case people come in and say to me, well, my client has been

crime free.  

Well, I don't know that.  I know he hasn't been

arrested.  I don't know if he's actually been crime free.  I

can only go with has he been -- does he -- been arrested for

any new cases I can give you that.  What he's done in the

meantime otherwise I don't know.  And so that's all I think

he's saying, but there's --

MR. WATKINS:  Well, you shouldn't consider that, you

know.

THE COURT:  I'm not.  I'm not considering that.
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MR. WATKINS:  Okay.

MR. GILES:  And it's being said simply for the fact,

Your Honor, that we now have an individual who isn't cloaked

with the belief of being not guilty; the innocence is gone

here.  Mr. Banka has driven drunk in the past and has caused

substantially bodily harm, and all the promises in the world

doesn't change that fact that he won't do it again, and the

dangerousness to the community.  

This isn't a targeted individual, this isn't a

specific victim class that would be potentially impacted by

Mr. Banka.  It's society as a whole if he was released.

And other than that unless the Court has any

questions about our opposition I will submit to the Court that

bail at this time is inappropriate.  It should be denied and

Mr. Banka's appeal should be allowed to go forward.

MR. WATKINS:  If I could just briefly respond, Your

Honor.

First off, the State obviously is not saying that our

appeal is for delay or it's frivolous.  There's no flight risk.

The only thing they're saying is now he's a threat to the

public, okay.  And again there has been absolutely nothing in

Jack's life before or after this horrible incident on December

1st of 2016.

The prosecutor comes in now as trying to paint a

picture here oh, he's a real risk to you, he's this to the
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community, et cetera, et cetera, when in fact their previous

conduct showed that they didn't believe that.  This is just

argument to keep this gentleman sitting in prison when we are

trying to fight his case legally and have a --

THE COURT:  Okay.  Tamp it down.

MR. WATKINS:  -- basis to do so.

THE COURT:  Just like exclamation marks in your

papers don't move me neither does shouting in court.

MR. WATKINS:  I'm going to stop doing that because

Jack Howard said that exclamation marks is not good.

THE COURT:  Yeah.

MR. WATKINS:  So I'm not going to do that and I'm not

going to do as much underlying of and I try to, you know, kind

of keep my voice --

THE COURT:  There you go.

MR. WATKINS:  -- you know, but, Judge --

THE COURT:  Okay.  I understand what you're saying,

and I, you know, I've read everything.  So I'm saying it again.

You've already said it in the papers --

MR. WATKINS:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- and you've said now in oral argument.

It doesn't do it any good to say it a third time.  I understand

what you're saying.

MR. WATKINS:  And I'm not trying to repeat; I'm

trying to respond to them saying that, you know, he is a danger
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to the community when none of that took place before, but now

because we are now trying to get Jack on bail because you

realize that if we're successful on appeal, and he's in custody

he has appeared victory.  He's being punished.

Our position is why punish him at this point.  Let us

do our appeal.  You can make -- for example, Jack will

surrender his driver's license to this Honorable Court.  He

won't drive during the interim.

THE COURT:  All right.  So as far as that goes, I

mean, yes, okay, every single person who is sentenced to

incarceration and has an appeal right, they -- they're in that

same boat or you can say, okay, well, every single person

should be given appeal, you know, bond on appeal pending

appeal, and that's why the Supreme Court has said, well, there

are things that we look at, right.  And it's not just are they

a threat or is the appeal frivolous or -- our Supreme Court has

pretty much said you can look at anything.  Here I'm looking at

some discrete things. 

So whether or not your client is a threat to the

community I really don't know, you know.  I mean, he -- he

hasn't while he was at liberty.  He wasn't arrested for DUI

again.  I don't know whether he would be inclined to drink and

drive again if he were released I don't know.

That -- you know that -- are people that drink and

drive a threat to the community?  Yes.  And we've had people
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that have gone through the felony DUI program for three years

and still then later drink and drive again, and that's

horrifying, and you'd like to think that they wouldn't, you

know.  They've got a lot to lose, et cetera if they do that.

But so I don't know.  I mean, I don't see that he's a

threat in the same way that the Supreme Court was discussing a

murderer, you know, that, no, he's, you know, he, yeah,

intentionally drove drunk, and he as a result got into an

accident.  I think that the evidence for that is overwhelming,

frankly, in this case, and someone was gravely injured, and he

fled the scene.  And there's not really any dispute about that

that he fled first in his car, that then when the car became

inoperable he tried to also flee on foot, but --

MR. WATKINS:  Judge, just so I could --

THE COURT:  -- let me just say this that I think that

the additional facts that you presented to me at my invitation

regarding your arguments about the case itself, which I wanted

to know because that would obviously impact whether I thought I

had made a mistake about permitting him to withdraw his plea,

would it, you know, result in a manifest injustice on the

totality of the circumstances.  I really don't think that

anything that you put in the papers does rise to that level.

I agree with what the State has said.  I mean, there

were -- there was an eyewitness, a reliable eyewitness who saw

the accident happen, testified about the directions of the

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

RA 000245



17

JD Reporting, Inc.

C-18-333254-1 | State v. Banka | 2020-02-24

vehicles, followed the defendant and kept him from eventually

fleeing on foot so.

And, you know, there was field sobriety and

eventually a blood draw with -- he was, you know, blood alcohol

in violation of the limits.  

So nothing that's been presented by the defense makes

me think that under a totality of the circumstances I should

have granted the motion to withdraw the plea.  So I'm not

granting on sending anything up to the Supreme Court under

Honeycutt saying that I want to change that.

Now, based on the complete procedural posture of this

case, particularly that the defendant had the option of

proceeding to trial on the date that was set either with his

original counsel or with his current counsel and instead he

chose to plead guilty pursuant to Alford where he acknowledged

that he did not want to run the risk of the conviction at

trial.  

And then the offer of proof was made by the State,

that offer of proof indicated substantial if not overwhelming

evidence to the Court.

Based upon that I find that this motion as well as

all of the procedure that has gone on with this -- like I say,

he could have gone to trial.  Instead we have all of this

machinations to delay that.  I believe that this current motion

is also for the purpose of delay in this matter, and so I'm not
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going to grant it.

Do I think that your appeal is frivolous?  I don't

like to say that an appeal is frivolous.  When it goes on

appeal, the Supreme Court is going to decide whether it's

frivolous or not.  In certain instances maybe the trial Court

can say an appeal is frivolous because it's not grounded in any

law, that there's not any potential argument.  I don't -- I

don't find your arguments persuasive which because if I had, I

would have granted your motions.  But so I --

MR. WATKINS:  That doesn't mean that it's not.

THE COURT:  Exactly.

MR. WATKINS:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  That's why I'm saying that I don't think

it's frivolous.  I think for something to be frivolous,

frankly, for a Court, a trial Court to make a finding of a

frivolous appeal that it's a further finding or it certainly

insinuates that counsel really doesn't have a true belief that

there is any merit to the appeal; I don't think that.  I think

that you do believe there's merit.

MR. WATKINS:  I strongly believe in it.

THE COURT:  Right.  And you've indicated that to me

every which and every time.  So I'm not making a finding of

frivolousness.  

I'm making a finding that I think it's for the

purpose of delay, and therefore it's denied.  Obviously you can
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reapply for bail and appeal to the Supreme Court.

MR. WATKINS:  And, Your Honor, just one thing and

then I'll be out of here.  Is that you're making it sound that

Jack had Michael Pariente and myself of counsel to represent

him you would not let us substitute in, and you were going to

require us to be ready for trial --

THE COURT:  I let -- that's right.

MR. WATKINS:  -- and we could not be ready for trial

and represent this gentleman with a five-day window so he

didn't have us.  And then he was scared to death because you

wouldn't let us come in, and then they increased it from two

years to four years because we as attorneys, okay --

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let's --

MR. WATKINS:  -- wanted to represent Jack.

THE COURT:  Mr. Watkins, it's now been 20 minutes

even though I said 10.  So thank you.

MR. WATKINS:  Judge, thanks.  By the way, is the

husband doing, okay?

THE COURT:  Of course.  Thank you.

MR. WATKINS:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. GILES:  Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. WATKINS:  Your Honor -- nevermind.  I assume

you'll do the order.

THE COURT:  The State will prepare the order, and I

will review it and make any changes necessary.
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MR. WATKINS:  Are we going to get a chance to see it

before it goes to you or?

THE COURT:  Well, if you can get it done in the time

frame, it's supposed to be done in 10 days so.

MR. WATKINS:  Would you send it to me?

MR. GILES:  I will cc them, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Okay.

(Proceedings adjourned 10:01 a.m.) 

-oOo- 

ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly 

transcribed the audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled 

case. 

 

                              _______________________________ 

                              Dana L. Williams 
                              Transcriber 
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